THE URGENT CALL FOR A U.S. NATIONAL FOOD STRATEGY

An Update to the Blueprint OCTOBER 2020







AUTHORS AND ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Report Authors: The lead authors of this report are **Emily M. Broad Leib**, *Clinical Professor of Law and Director of the Food Law and Policy Clinic at Harvard Law School* and **Laurie Beyranevand**, *Professor of Law and Director of the Center for Agriculture and Food Systems at Vermont Law School*, with significant research, writing, input, and editing support from **Esther Akwii**, *Clinical Fellow of the Food Law and Policy Clinic at Harvard Law School* and **Cydnee Bence**, *LLM Fellow*, *Center for Agriculture and Food Systems at Vermont Law School*. In addition, the following students contributed significant research and writing to the report: **Bradley Adams**, **Madison McDonald**, **Tessa Pulaski**, **Ali Ruxin**, and **Ali Schklair**. Finally, the following Food Law and Policy Clinic Students at Harvard Law School Kelemen.

This report would not have been possible without the assistance, partnership, and tremendous production support of Lihlani Skipper Nelson, Associate Director and Research Fellow, Center for Agriculture and Food Systems at Vermont Law School and the support of Kyra Sanborn, Advancement Officer at the Center for Health Law and Policy Innovation, on report production, release, and communications.

We thank the following people for reviewing this report. The reviewers do not necessarily concur with the report's arguments and recommendations, but provided useful guidance on portions of its content: Jerold Mande, Senior Advisor, Center for Science in the Public Interest, Margot Pollans, Professor of Law, Director of Pace-NRDC Food Law Initiative at Elisabeth Haub School of Law, and Emily Spiegel, Assistant Professor and Faculty Fellow, Center for Agriculture and Food Systems at Vermont Law School.

Report Layout and Design: Andrea DiMattina, Andrea DiMattina Design www.andreadimattina.com

Original Report Layout and Design: Ericka Wallis, *Graphic Designer at Community Blueprint* and **Andy Berndt,** *Director at Community Blueprint* **www.communityblueprint.com**





ABOUT THE CENTER FOR AGRICULTURE AND FOOD SYSTEMS AT VERMONT LAW SCHOOL

Vermont Law School's Center for Agriculture and Food Systems (CAFS) uses law and policy to build a more sustainable and just food system. In partnership with local, regional, national, and international partners, CAFS addresses food system challenges related to food justice, food security, farmland access, animal welfare, worker protections, the environment, and public health, among others. CAFS works closely with its partners to provide legal services that respond to their needs and develop resources that empower the communities they serve. Through CAFS' Food and Agriculture Clinic and Research Assistant program, students work directly on projects alongside partners nationwide, engaging in innovative work that spans the food system. Visit www.vermontlaw.edu/cafs to learn more.



ABOUT THE FOOD LAW AND POLICY CLINIC AT HARVARD LAW SCHOOL

The Harvard Law School Food Law and Policy Clinic (FLPC) serves partner organizations and communities by providing guidance on cutting-edge food system issues, while engaging law students in the practice of food law and policy. FLPC's work focuses on increasing access to healthy foods, supporting sustainable production and regional food systems, promoting community-led food system change, and reducing waste of healthy, wholesome food. FLPC is committed to advancing a cross-sector, multidisciplinary, and inclusive approach to its work, building partnerships with academic institutions, government agencies, private sector actors, and civil society with expertise in public health, the environment, and the economy. For more information, visit www.chlpi.org/flpc/.

CONTENTS

I. INTRODUCTION
II. RESEARCH AND FINDINGS FROM THE 2017 BLUEPRINT
1. Need for a U.S. National Food Strategy

2.	International Examples of National Food Strategies		13
3.	Domestic Examples of National Strategies		14
4.	Recommendations from the 2017 <i>Blueprint</i>		15

III. PROGRESS TOWARD NATIONAL FOOD LAW

Α	ND POLICY COORDINATION	. 16	5
1.	Domestic Coordination on Specific Food Issues	. 17	7
2.	Progress on International Examples of National Food Strategies	. 2	1
	A. Revisiting the National Food Strategies Analyzed in the 2017 Blueprint	. 2	1
	B. A New National Food Strategy in Canada	. 24	ŀ

IV. COVID-19 CONFIRMS URGENT NEED FOR

A NATIONAL FOOD STRATEGY	28
1. COVID-19's Impact on the Food System	30
A. Farm and Food Workers are Deemed "Essential" Yet are Unprotected	. 30
B. Staggering Rates of Food Insecurity	33
C. Vastly Increased Food Waste	37
D. Major Threats to Farm Viability	39

Endnotes .		1		÷	2	÷	÷	÷			÷		÷	÷	÷	÷	÷	÷		÷			1	.1	5()

I. INTRODUCTION

The United States continues to face concurrent and interrelated crises of food-related inequality, diet-related disease, and environmental and climate disruption. While the inequalities, challenges, and inconsistencies endemic to the U.S. food system¹ have long been recognized, the COVID-19 pandemic exacerbated these issues and shone a spotlight on them. In 2017, the Harvard Law School Food Law and Policy Clinic and Vermont Law School's Center for Agriculture and Food Systems published the *Blueprint for a National Food Strategy*, a roadmap for developing a U.S. national food strategy.² Since then, federal agencies have incrementally increased efforts to coordinate on discrete food system issues, yet none of these initiatives has elicited a comprehensive strategy that holistically addresses critical food system challenges, tradeoffs, and long-term



goals. Yet, the need for a coordinated federal approach to food and agricultural law and policy has increased dramatically since 2017. Given the significant food system issues raised by the COVID-19 pandemic and the ongoing and sustained movement to address systemic racial inequality coupled with the looming national election, the time is ripe to examine and update the *Blueprint*.

The food system is governed by a complex web of laws and regulations, with government agencies, foreign and domestic stakeholders, and community organizations advocating for policies that often conflict, create redundancies, or increase inefficiencies. A thriving food and agricultural system ("food system") is essential to the United States due to its implications for our nation's economy, individual and communal health, environment, and social equality. Despite the intersectional nature of these issues, our national food laws and policies are fragmented. Instead, the food system is governed by a complex web of laws and regulations, with government agencies, foreign and domestic stakeholders, and community organizations advocating for policies that often conflict, create redundancies, or increase inefficiencies.³

The people of the United States stand to reap significant benefits from a national food strategy that embodies a coordinated federal approach for food and agricultural law and policymaking. Such an approach could increase legislative and agency coordination, thereby reducing

administrative redundancy and inefficiency; engage stakeholders and the public through meaningful opportunities to share their challenges, priorities, and suggestions for policy development; and ultimately maximize economic, health, environmental, and social benefits.

Food and agriculture account for 5.4 percent of the American economy, contributing more than \$1 trillion to the U.S. gross domestic product ("GDP").⁴ The food system also employs 11 percent of the U.S. workforce,⁵ and the entirety of the U.S. population has an economic stake in the food system, as we all participate as consumers. **However, the food system fails to meet our nation's most important and basic needs in a variety of ways.**

THE FOOD SYSTEM (Fig. 1)

The food system consists of more than just the food supply chain (see Fig. 2). It includes a number of other factors that impact and are impacted by the food supply chain.



products used in the process of producing food and other agricult

FOOD SYSTEM CHALLENGES

FOOD SUPPLY CHAIN (Fig. 2)

Health Impacts

Before the COVID-19 pandemic, diet-related disease-which includes obesity, heart disease, diabetes, stroke, type 2 various hypertension, and cancers⁶—was the most significant public health challenge facing the United States.⁷ The rates of all dietrelated diseases have climbed in the past few decades; for example, nearly ten percent of



Americans suffer from diabetes today (and more than one-third are pre-diabetic),⁸ compared with less than one percent fifty years ago.⁹ These illnesses cause not only a toll in human suffering, but they also impact the economy as well, as a 2009 report from the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) estimated that preventable diseases, such as diabetes, account for approximately 75 percent of total healthcare spending in the U.S.¹⁰ Further, Black, Indigenous, and people of color (BIPOC) populations are disproportionately affected by diet-related disease¹¹ due to many factors,¹² including higher levels of food insecurity, less access to high-quality foods, and targeted marketing of unhealthy foods.¹³ This is particularly concerning because preexisting diet-related medical conditions also result in minority communities being more susceptible both to contracting COVID-19 and experiencing severe negative health outcomes at disproportionately higher rates than white populations.¹⁴

Environmental Impacts

When considering environmental effects, the food system releases environmental contaminants and pollutants, depletes natural resources, and harms local communities.¹⁵ In the United States, agriculture accounts for 80 to 90 percent of "consumptive water use"¹⁶ and is a leading cause of water quality impairment.¹⁷ Despite the significant natural resources, water, labor, and land required to produce our food, nearly 40 percent of the food produced in the United States is lost or wasted.¹⁸ Food waste accounts for the highest percentage of organic waste in landfills, contributing about 14 percent of human-related methane emissions in the United States.¹⁹ Globally, the food system accounts for 60 percent of terrestrial biodiversity loss, 24 percent of greenhouse gas emissions, 33 percent of degraded soils, and 61 percent of commercial fish population depletion.²⁰

Hunger and Food Insecurity

Food insecurity is one of the biggest challenges facing the U.S. food system, especially in light of the economic impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic. In 2019, 10.5 percent of U.S. households were food insecure.²¹ In April 2020, due to COVID-19, the number of food insecure households was estimated to have more than doubled with figures ranging from 22 to 38 percent, placing tremendous strain on food banks and pantries.²² Additionally, the number of households with "very low food security," or households where "normal eating patterns were disrupted due to lack of resources,"²³ more than doubled as a result of the pandemic, increasing from 4 percent to 11 percent.²⁴ The number of households, with Black households reporting very low food security disproportionately increased for Black and Latinx households, with Black households reporting an increase from 9 percent in 2018 to 20 percent in July 2020 and Latinx households reporting an increase from 5 percent to 19 percent, compared to an increase from 2 percent to 7 percent for white households.²⁵ While BIPOC households already faced higher rates of food insecurity, this gap has widened dramatically as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic.

Economic Impacts

Although food and agriculture contribute over \$1 trillion to the U.S. GDP annually, food system benefits are not distributed evenly among economic and racial groups.²⁶ Fifty-one percent of all farm production value comes from large-scale farms making over \$1 million annually in gross cash farm income ("GCFI").²⁷

By contrast, small-scale family farms account for only 26 percent of total farm production in the United States, despite representing 89 percent of all farms.²⁸ Moreover, while net farm income is projected at \$102.7 billion in 2020, the median farm income for farm households was anticipated to increase in 2020 to \$934 largely due to increases in government payments.²⁹ Regarding racial disparities, according to the 2017 USDA Census of Agriculture, white farmers received 98.9 percent of government farm payments.³⁰ Yet, only 0.6 percent of government payments went to farms with Black/African American Producers.³¹ Other racial groups are equally underrepresented with only 1.1 percent of American Indian or Alaska Natives, 0.3 percent of Asian, 0.08 percent of Native Hawaiian or other Pacific Islander, and 1.7 percent of Hispanic, Latino, or Spanish producers receiving government farm payments.³² These disparities are the products of an agricultural system that thrived on enslaving human beings and the government's history of engaging in discriminatory practices, developing policies that sanctioned involuntary land loss, inhibited the accumulation of wealth, and continues to exploit BIPOC and under-represented communities.³³

The disparities in farm ownership are the products oan agricultural system that thrived on enslaving human beings and the government's history of engaging in discriminatory practices, developing policies that sanctioned involuntary land loss, inhibited the accumulation of wealth, and continues to exploit BIPOC and underrepresented communities.

Food and Farm Labor

Despite being essential to the food supply, farm and food system workers who grow, harvest, and process our nation's food supply are unprotected by most labor laws.³⁴ Agricultural workers are paid sub-minimum wages for strenuous labor without overtime pay³⁵ and are at significant risk for "fatalities and injuries, work-related lung diseases, noise-induced hearing loss, skin diseases, and certain cancers associated with chemical use and prolonged sun exposure."³⁶ They also do not benefit from many of the same workplace protections related to temperature and exposure to hazardous chemicals as workers in other sectors.³⁷ Additionally, almost half of the two million migrant and seasonal farmworkers in the United States are undocumented,³⁸ making them ineligible for government assistance, such as workers' compensation, disability benefits, federal nutrition assistance, and Medicaid,³⁹ despite contributing to these systems through payroll taxes each year.⁴⁰ Moreover, farm workers and other food system workers are especially vulnerable to COVID-19.41 As of September 14, 2020, at least 59,041 food system workers (42,537 meatpacking workers, 9,448 food processing workers, and 7,056 farmworkers) tested positive for COVID-19, and at least 252 workers (203 meatpacking workers, 34 food processing workers, and 15 farmworkers) died.⁴² However, the number of cases among food workers may be even higher due to limited testing⁴³ and resistance from some food businesses to sharing test result data following coronavirus outbreaks at their plants.⁴⁴



The Need for Governmental Coordination to Solve Systemic Issues

The United States has no mechanism to address the food system's interconnected economic, health, and environmental effects, nor a plan to improve these outcomes. Instead, the food system is governed by a complex set of federal, state, tribal, and local laws and agencies, causing inefficient and unintended consequences. At the federal level, more than 15 administrative agencies implement 30 different statutes to regulate and oversee various aspects of the food system, sometimes with overlapping or conflicting mandates and authorities from Congress.⁴⁵ Because there is no single food agency within the Executive branch, congressional oversight for food policy is fragmented across various House and Senate committees.

U.S. HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES COMMITTEES ON FOOD POLICY

In the House of Representatives alone, three separate committees address:

- Agricultural subsidies and funding for the Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program (SNAP) through oversight over the farm bill;
- Food safety authority for the majority of the food system; and
- School meals and food support for women, infants, and children.⁴⁶

This jurisdictional morass breeds inconsistency and imposes unnecessary costs and burdens on producers and manufacturers, as well as an inability for the American public to know which agencies or actors should be held accountable for poor food system outcomes. To address these strains on the food system, the U.S. needs a coordinated approach to policymaking that helps identify our national food system priorities and provides opportunities for feedback on the tradeoffs inherent in food policymaking.



Chart I: Federal Agencies and the Regulation of Food

	AGENCY	ROLE
USDA	UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE (USDA)	Oversees regulation and labeling of domestic and imported meat, poultry, and processed egg products; ensures quality and marketing grades; oversees animal and plant health; administers the Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program; administers school meal programs; administers Special Supplemental Nutrition Program for Women, Infants, and Children; administers loans and crop subsidies for farmers; provides technical and financial support for rural communities and farmers; along with FDA, issues standards for Good Agricultural Practices; regulates and inspects farm animal transport and slaughter; promotes and oversees farm conservation
FDA	FOOD AND DRUG ADMINISTRATION, UNDER THE DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES (FDA)	Responsible for protecting the public health by ensuring the safety, efficacy, and security of human and veterinary drugs, biological products, and medical devices; and by ensuring the safety of our nation's food supply, cosmetics, and products that emit radiation
CDC	CENTERS FOR DISEASE CONTROL, UNDER THE DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES (CDC)	Protects public health, including health around foodborne illnesses
STATES STATES	ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY (EPA)	Regulates environmental pollutants, including air and water pollutants from agriculture, as well as pesticide use
	DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR (DOI)	Manages land, water resources, and fisheries
	DEPARTMENT OF DEFENSE (DOD)	Responsible for feeding service people and supplying food to other federal programs
	DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE (DOC)	Promotes economic development; issues patents and trademarks; manages fishing in federal ocean waters; conducts climate change research and planning
THE REAL PROPERTY OF TRANSPORT	DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION (DOT)	Invests in transportation infrastructure, which impacts food transport
	DEPARTMENT OF ENERGY (DOE)	Develops energy policy that affects food production
	DEPARTMENT OF HOMELAND SECURITY (DHS)	Oversees some aspects of food safety and impacts farm labor through enforcement of immigration laws

Chart I: Federal Agencies and the Regulation of Food (continued)

DEPARTMENT OF LABOR (DOL)	Develops and implements regulations related to workplace compensation, health, and safety, including in the food and agriculture sector
FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION (FTC)	Regulates food advertising and marketing
FEDERAL COMMUNICATIONS COMMISSION (FCC)	Regulates food advertising
DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE (DOJ)	Enforces antitrust laws related to food and agriculture; brings criminal charges related to food safety violations
DEPARTMENT OF TREASURY	Administers and enforces laws on the production, safety, and distribution of alcohol; provides financial assistance to healthy food retailers through the Healthy Food Financing Initiative
DEPARTMENT OF STATE (DOS)	Provides food aid and agricultural development assistance overseas
OFFICE OF THE U.S. TRADE REPRESENTATIVE (USTR)	Negotiates with foreign governments to create trade agreements, such as the North American Free Trade Agreement, Transatlantic Trade and Investment Partnership, and Trans-Pacific Partnership
	FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION (FTC) FEDERAL COMMUNICATIONS COMMISSION (FCC) DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE (DOJ) DEPARTMENT OF TREASURY DEPARTMENT OF STATE (DOS) OFFICE OF THE U.S. TRADE

This report provides a needed and timely update to the 2017 *Blueprint* to emphasize the urgency for a U.S. national food strategy, as our situation has only become more dire. Part II of this report summarizes the results of the global and domestic research and recommendations presented in the 2017 *Blueprint*. Part III demonstrates the incremental progress the U.S. has made toward coordination. This Part contrasts this limited progress with other nations that have developed and refined such strategies to holistically address food system challenges. Part IV documents COVID-19's profound impact on the food system, highlighting the substantial disruptions to vital food system functions, and how the lack of a coordinated national strategy hampered our response in the face of supply chain disruptions, disparate impacts on BIPOC communities, and rapidly increasing food insecurity rates. Finally, Part V calls for needed action, suggesting opportunities for Congress or the administration to develop a governance framework that builds and supports a sustainable, equitable, and resilient food system that can respond to the current COVID-19 crisis and chart a course for developing the policies necessary to achieve long-term goals and priorities for the future.

II. RESEARCH AND FINDINGS FROM THE 2017 BLUEPRINT

1. NEED FOR A U.S. NATIONAL FOOD STRATEGY

A national food strategy is a **coordinated strategic federal approach to food system policy and regulation.**⁴⁷ Such an approach provides a framework to better acknowledge and address the mismatch between the vital importance of our food system and the lack of attention and coordination focused on its operation. In 2017, Vermont Law School's Center for Agriculture and Food Systems (CAFS)

and the Harvard Law School Food Law and Policy Clinic (FLPC) developed the *Blueprint for a National Food Strategy* to provide a procedural framework for comprehensive food system law and policymaking.⁴⁸ By design, the *Blueprint* focused on process rather than policy. It provided an overview of U.S. food system regulation, identified inconsistencies among some of these laws and authorities, and offered recommendations for a coordinated path forward based on an analysis of selected domestic and international models. As explained in the *Blueprint*, a carefully designed national food strategy lays the foundation for more effective policies and resource utilization, and ultimately, a stronger food system.



For example, a central issue highlighted in the *Blueprint* focused on the absence

of a single "food" agency in the United States. Food law and policy are tangled in a vast network of federal, tribal, state, local, and international policies and norms, creating both overlapping and conflicting areas of jurisdiction. One example of the inconsistencies inherent to food system law and policymaking relates to poor health outcomes and rising rates of diet-related disease. Less than 20 percent of Americans are metabolically healthy, an alarmingly low number, largely due to poor-quality diets.⁴⁹ As mentioned above, an estimated 42 percent of American adults⁵⁰ and 18.5 percent of children are obese.⁵¹ In recommending what Americans should eat, the 2015 Dietary Guidelines emphasized the

consumption of fruits and vegetables, listing them as the top two components of a healthy diet.⁵² However, the bulk of federal subsidies for food product supports are allocated to commodity crops such as corn and soy.⁵³ Much of the corn and soy grown in the United States is used to produce highly processed foods or fed to livestock raised for meat production.⁵⁴ Yet, the Dietary Guidelines recommend that processed foods and meat should be consumed in moderation,⁵⁵ rendering the USDA's crop subsidies at odds with the Dietary Guidelines, which are developed jointly by the USDA and the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services.

Examples of inconsistencies resulting in negative outcomes abound due to our uncoordinated and scattershot approach to food system regulation. A thoughtful, strategic, and coordinated national food strategy could ensure the harmonization of food system priorities, including public health, food equity, and environmental and economic sustainability.



2. INTERNATIONAL EXAMPLES OF NATIONAL FOOD STRATEGIES

The concept of a coordinated federal approach to food system law and policymaking through a national food strategy is not novel or radical. Many countries have adopted national food strategies to address complex issues within their food systems. The *Blueprint* analyzed national food strategies from six different countries: Australia, Brazil, Norway, Scotland, the United Kingdom, and Wales.⁵⁶ These countries faced food system challenges similar to those of the U.S. and their strategies and processes provided examples for the U.S. to consider. While the impetus that led to the creation of each strategy varied, the strategies themselves typically share the underlying goal of providing a



Countries highlighted in this report.

framework that accounts for the food system in a coordinated and holistic manner.⁵⁷

A few countries developed national food strategies in response to a national crisis. As cited in the 2017 *Blueprint*, Norway's "farmfood-nutrition" policy, enacted in 1975,⁵⁸ responded to high rates of cardiovascular disease in Norway and a global food crisis⁵⁹ that underscored Norway's dependence on food imports and highlighted the decline of the nation's farm sector.⁶⁰ As a result, the Norwegian government embraced a national food strategy that delegated oversight authority to key government agencies to implement the strategy by improving domestic food production, addressing nutritional health

needs, and strengthening international relationships.⁶¹ In 2008, the United Kingdom developed a comprehensive food strategy to address rising global commodity prices and the impact of dietrelated diseases. The U.K. government first developed a white paper, *Food Matters*, which detailed legal and policy components of a comprehensive strategy and major food system challenges, and laid

out a vision for food policy with strategic goals and actions.⁶² *Food Matters* culminated in the U.K.'s first national food strategy, entitled Food 2030.⁶³

Analysis of the six national food strategies also provided useful examples of participatory governance.⁶⁴ In Brazil, stakeholders themselves became policymakers, with advisory councils at every level of government,⁶⁵ embodying a partnership between civil society and government. In other countries, stakeholders

WHAT IS A STRATEGY?

This report uses a broad definition of *"strategy,"* applying it to federal policies, plans, laws, and directives that comprehensively address food system issues by coordinating decision-making across different agencies and governmental departments.

across the food system participated in the creation of national food strategies through written comments and open consultations.⁶⁶ In many instances, governments established targeted working groups in the form of commissions, forums, and councils to conduct outreach, engage in consultations, produce research, or advise government.⁶⁷ Finally, to respond to changing needs over time and ensure durability, some countries also included mechanisms to revisit, revise, and recalibrate their strategies.⁶⁸ From this international analysis, the *Blueprint* found that countries facing similar sets of challenges as the U.S. determined that the benefits of moving toward coordinated and integrated decision making for the food system far outweighed the costs associated with continuing to address food system issues in a piecemeal fashion.⁶⁹

3. DOMESTIC EXAMPLES OF NATIONAL STRATEGIES

While the U.S. does not have a national food strategy, it does have a rich history of using national strategies to address many other complex health, safety, and environmental issues.⁷⁰ The *Blueprint* analyzed comparable national strategy mechanisms, as these mechanisms illustrate the tools available to actualize a national food strategy. Specifically, these strategies serve as models for coordinating action among various agencies, setting national goals and concrete targets, and gathering information from the public and key stakeholders on an ongoing basis.⁷¹ Comprehensive coordinated strategies have been created by the President through executive orders and Congress through legislation, while being championed by Republicans and Democrats alike.

The National HIV/AIDS Strategy provides a good example of a coordinated plan that showcases elements of the successful use of a national strategy as a tool. Throughout the 1990s and early 2000s, activists pressed the federal government to devote increased attention and funding to ongoing high rates of, and disparities in, HIV/AIDS infection.⁷² In the lead-up to the 2008 election, the Open Society

Foundation's Public Health Watch published a paper, Blueprint for a National AIDS Plan for the United States, calling for a national strategy.73 Thereafter, 500 organizations and 1,000 individuals signed on to a "Call to Action," advocating for the incoming administration to create an effective HIV/ AIDS strategy.⁷⁴ All Democratic primary candidates and the Republican nominee endorsed the proposal.⁷⁵ Upon taking office, President Obama launched a process to create a National HIV/AIDS Strategy, directing the Office of National AIDS Policy ("ONAP") to provide centralized, strategic oversight.⁷⁶ As part of the strategy, the President developed an external advisory council of public health officials, experts, and advocates that provided advice and recommendations after soliciting diverse public input.⁷⁷ This process culminated in the publication of the first National HIV/AIDS Strategy in 2010,⁷⁸ which provided opportunities for ongoing public engagement and updates, thereby increasing accountability and durability.⁷⁹ Implementation of the strategy was so successful that ONAP released an updated strategy with new goals and metrics in 2015.⁸⁰

For the National HIV/AIDS Strategy, the Office of National AIDS Policy **ONAP** sought input by facilitating discussions around the country, attended by over **4,200 participants** of varying ages, economic classes, racial and ethnic backgrounds, sexual orientations, and occupations, as well as soliciting public comments online.



Much like international food strategies, national strategies in the U.S. have also been used to respond to national crises. For example, commissions were created after Pearl Harbor, the assassination of John F. Kennedy, the space shuttle disasters, and the September 11, 2001, terrorist attacks.⁸¹ National strategies addressing tragic events often follow a similar format: first, a working group or commission determines the events and failures that led to the disaster, and then the commission provides recommendations to prevent similar crises from happening in the future.⁸² In some cases, a series of crises can highlight recurring gaps in federal policy. For example, the National Health Security Strategy responded to a set of interrelated concerns following 9/11, Hurricanes Katrina and Rita, and the avian flu outbreak.⁸³

Similar to national food strategies in other countries, the key to the success of the domestic national strategies is empowering a lead office or agency to call meetings, draft the strategy, and report on progress; calling for engagement from relevant offices or agencies; ensuring ample opportunity for public input; and creating channels for transparency and accountability through reporting on strategy implementation and making future revisions.⁸⁴ Prior national strategies offer precedent and a toolkit for building a robust national food strategy in the United States.

4. RECOMMENDATIONS FROM THE 2017 BLUEPRINT

Based on its analysis of six national food strategies from around the globe and eight domestic national strategies on other topics, the *Blueprint* proposed a roadmap for creating a national food strategy in the U.S. If followed, this roadmap can increase coordination across government agencies and between public and private sectors, enabling actors to respond efficiently and effectively to the challenges and opportunities facing the U.S. food system. The Blueprint offered four key guiding principles for the development of a U.S. national food strategy: coordination; participation; transparency and accountability; and durability. These principles and corresponding recommendations are still relevant and particularly crucial now as the U.S. food system deals with fallout from the COVID-19 pandemic and its related challenges. The principles are outlined here, and explained in more detail below explained in more detail in the Call to Actions and Recommendations section below.

2017 BLUEPRINT RECOMMENDATIONS

COORDINATION

- Identify a lead office or agency and provide it with resources and the authority to compel engagement and action in the creation of the strategy.
- Create an interagency working group to coordinate the key offices and agencies that oversee the laws and regulations that shape our food system.
- Engage state, local, and tribal governments as key partners.

PARTICIPATION

- Create an advisory council to engage vital stakeholders from outside government in strategy development.
- Develop a multi pronged approach to elicit stakeholder and public participation, and provide opportunities for feedback throughout the process.
- Respond to public input, explaining why one course of action has been chosen over another.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND TRANSPARENCY

- Create a written strategy document that includes priorities, goals, expected outcomes, implementation measures, and concrete metrics for measuring progress.
- Require publication of accessible, public-facing reports that measure progress against the strategy's goals, metrics, and expected outcomes.

DURABILITY

- Ensure periodic updating of the strategy to reflect changing social, economic, scientific, and technological factors.
- Implement a procedural mechanism, like that embodied in the National Environmental Policy Act (which requires agencies to consider environmental impacts of their actions), to guide agency decision-making that impacts the food system.

III. PROGRESS TOWARD NATIONAL FOOD LAW AND POLICY COORDINATION

Since the release of the *Blueprint* in 2017, industry stakeholders, nonprofit groups, civil society, and academics have shown increased interest in and support for a coordinated national food strategy in the U.S. In 2017, the Meat and Poultry Dialogue Group ("Dialogue Group"), a stakeholder initiative including the multinational agribusiness Cargill, Inc., and The Pew Charitable Trusts, published a series of recommendations to modernize the meat and poultry oversight system.⁸⁵ The report recommended that Congress create one governing body responsible for all aspects of food safety oversight.⁸⁶ This entity would streamline risk assessment capabilities and ensure a more coordinated and effective food safety strategy.⁸⁷

Several reports published in 2020 align with the call for more coordination, investment, and strategic planning for the U.S. food system. In March 2020, a multi-stakeholder group convened by the Tufts University Friedman School of Nutrition Science and Policy and Harvard Chan School of Public Health published Report of the 50th Anniversary of the White House Conference on Food, Nutrition, and Health: Honoring the Past, Taking Actions for our Future. This report includes policy recommendations for key food policy issues in the United States and called for the creation of a singular executive branch position or office to oversee and manage federal nutrition programs, as well as a number of smaller committees dedicated to specific nutritional health issues.⁸⁸ A recent editorial in the American Journal of Public Health called for a unified national policy agenda for the food system to provide needed long-term, transformative solutions.⁸⁹ A detailed article in the American Journal of Clinical Nutrition describes the United States' historical lack of investment in and policy coordination focused on nutrition and diet, suggesting a range of options for political structures that could address these challenges, including the creation of an Office of the National Director of Food and Nutrition.⁹⁰ A report published in July 2020 by The Rockefeller Foundation called for investment in "coordinated federal, state, and local capabilities" and for collaboration across sectors, including "health, education, environment, labor, nutrition and agriculture" to respond to the food system challenges resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic.⁹¹



On the global stage, the International Panel of Experts on Sustainable Food Systems (IPES-Food) released a report advocating for a common food policy for the European Union (EU) to "coordinate and align actions across different policy areas and levels of [food system] governance."92 The report resulted from a threeyear multi-stakeholder process that included the creation and participation of five Policy Labs focused on different subject matters and four Local Labs centered in cities around the EU.93 While the report acknowledges the EU has made progress toward more coordinated food system governance, it also notes several shortcomings in the current approaches, ultimately concluding that the EU needs a common food policy for many of the same reasons cited in the *Blueprint* (see Four Key Reasons to Adopt a Common EU *Food Policy* to the right).

This section illustrates various measures and approaches adopted domestically and internationally that coordinate governmental responses to interrelated food system issues. Part A considers various coordination approaches between federal agencies in the U.S. Part B offers examples from other countries that adopted national food strategies, demonstrating ongoing international progress toward coordination in the food system.

INTERNATIONAL PANEL OF EXPERTS ON SUSTAINABLE FOOD SYSTEMS (IPES):

Four Key Reasons to Adopt A Common EU Food Policy

- To align and eliminate conflicting and inefficient policies;
- 2. To integrate and elevate innovative policies developed across all levels of government;
- To encourage long-term, coordinated food system governance rather than responsive policymaking to address issues in the shortterm; and
- 4. To rebuild participatory democratic food system governance and engage a broader range of stakeholders as co-creators of policy rather than consultants.

1. DOMESTIC COORDINATION ON SPECIFIC FOOD ISSUES

Since 2007, fragmentation in food safety oversight has been included on the Government Accountability Office's (GAO) High Risk List, a report published every two years to highlight government programs that are especially vulnerable to fraud, waste, abuse, and mismanagement.⁹⁴ In 2011 and 2014, GAO recommended that the U.S. Department of Agriculture (USDA) Food Safety and Inspection Service (FSIS) and the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) develop a coordinated plan to streamline food safety protocols. Dissatisfied with USDA and FDA's progress, GAO published a follow up report in 2017 calling for a national strategy on food safety that creates a framework to establish priority actions, assign leadership roles, assess progress, and define future goals.⁹⁵

More recently, Representatives Tim Ryan and Rosa DeLauro requested GAO report on the need for strategic response and coordination regarding food policy and public health; work on this report is underway.⁹⁶

Since 2017, USDA and FDA made a series of cross-agency commitments to streamline food safety oversight and improve interagency communication around particular issues.⁹⁷ In 2018, USDA and FDA formally announced their decision to align USDA's Harmonized Good Agricultural Practices (GAP) Audit program with the requirements of FDA's Food Safety Modernization Act's Produce

Safety Rule.⁹⁸ This change aimed to make it easier for farmers and producers to understand and meet the federal regulatory requirements, increase the efficiency of farm inspections faced by those producers, and reduce the incidence of harmful foodborne illness outbreaks.⁹⁹

INTERAGENCY AGREEMENTS AND MOUS SINCE 2017

FOOD SAFETY

National Strategy on Food Safety

2017 GAO report

The Government Accountability Office (GAO) calls for a national strategy on food safety that would improve interagency coordination and harmonize federal food safety oversight across the food supply chain.

USDA/FDA Formal Agreement to Bolster Collaboration and Coordination

2018 USDA/FDA formal agreement

In accordance with GAO's recommendations the year prior, the USDA and the FDA formally announce their commitment to improving food safety oversight through increased interagency communication and coordination.

USDA/FDA Streamline Produce Safety Requirements for Farmers

2018 USDA/FDA announcement

The USDA and FDA agree to align rules in the USDA's Harmonized Good Agricultural Practices Audit program with the requirements of the FDA's Food Safety Modernization Act's Produce Safety Rule. This collaboration is intended to make farm inspections more efficient and effective in reducing the risk of foodborne illness.

USDA/FDA agreement to coordinate cellbased meat regulation

2019 USDA/FDA formal agreement

The USDA and FDA reestablish their respective authority over the regulation of animal cellcultured food products for human consumption. The agreement aims to create a standardized approach to food safety oversight and to improve coordination between the two agencies.

FOOD WASTE

USDA/EPA/FDA Winning on Reducing Food Waste Initiative

2018 USDA/EPA/FDA MOU

This MOU between the USDA, EPA, and FDA signifies an interagency agreement to make food loss and waste reduction a national priority. The agreement calls for improved communication between agencies and a more coordinated effort to address food loss and waste across the supply chain.

USDA/EPA/FDA Winning on Reducing Food Waste FY 2019-2020 Federal Interagency Strategy

2019 USDA/EPA/FDA announcement

This announcement follows the signed MOU from October 2018 and stresses interagency collaboration with state, local, and community stakeholders. The strategy highlights six areas of focus:

- 1. Enhance Interagency Coordination
- 2. Increase Consumer Education and Outreach Efforts
- 3. Improve Coordination and Guidance on Food Loss and Waste Measurement
- 4. Clarify and Communicate Information on Food Safety, Food Date Labels, and Food Donations
- 5. Collaborate with Private Industry to Reduce Food Loss and Waste Across the Supply Chain
- 6. Encourage Food Waste Reduction by Federal Agencies in their Respective Facilities

In 2019, USDA and FDA signed a formal agreement to establish shared authority over the regulation animal cell-cultured of food products.¹⁰⁰ Under the Federal Meat Inspection Act (FMIA)¹⁰¹ and the Poultry Products Inspection Act (PPIA),¹⁰² USDA-FSIS is primarily responsible for regulating meat, including beef, pork, lamb, and poultry.¹⁰³ FDA is responsible for regulating the remainder of the food supply, including other animal products such as game meat and processed foods containing less than 50 percent meat.¹⁰⁴ Animal cell-cultured food products are a novel category of food. Preexisting legislation lacked clarity regarding whether USDA or FDA should regulate lab-grown meat, and the agencies had no mechanism to easily resolve the conflict. In the absence of congressional action addressing the jurisdictional question, neither agency had plenary authority over these

REGULATORY FRAMEWORK BETWEEN FDA AND USDA FOR FOOD INSPECTION (Fig. 3)



FDA oversees safety and labeling for 80 percent of the food supply, specifically:

- All domestic and imported food products processed for sale across state lines, but NOT meat and poultry
- Seafood except catfish
- Certain egg products, including shell eggs
- Game meats
- Fruits and vegetables
- Dietary supplements



USDA oversees safety and labeling for:

- Domestic and imported meat and poultry (except game meat)
- Products containing more than a certain percent of meat or poultry
- Certain egg products, such as processed and liquid egg products
- Catfish

products, creating a stalemate over who should regulate. To alleviate these challenges, the 2019 agreement clarified the agencies' shared responsibilities for these products by providing that FDA would regulate animal cell-cultured food products from the production phase until the time of harvest, with regulatory

2019 NATIONAL FOOD WASTE REDUCTION STRATEGY:

Six Areas of Focus

- 1. Enhanced interagency coordination;
- 2. Increased consumer education and outreach efforts;
- Improved coordination and guidance on food loss and waste measurement;
- Enhanced clarity and communication on food safety, date labels, and food donations;
- 5. Improved collaboration with private industry to reduce food loss and waste across the supply chain; and
- 6. Increased encouragement of federal agencies to reduce food waste in their facilities.

responsibility shifting to USDA for oversight of further processing and labeling.¹⁰⁵ To ensure safety, increased and frequent coordination between USDA and FDA will only become more integral and potentially cumbersome as food technology continues to evolve and novel products cross agency jurisdictional lines.

In addition to coordinating food safety regulation, USDA and FDA agreed, along with the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA), to jointly address food loss and waste. In a 2019 Memorandum of Understanding (MOU), the USDA, FDA, and EPA agreed to make food loss and waste reduction a shared priority.¹⁰⁶ In pursuit of this goal, the agencies announced a national food waste reduction strategy in 2019 that includes six key areas of focus. ¹⁰⁷Along with emphasizing coordination between federal agencies, the strategy also highlights the importance of collaboration with state, local, and community stakeholders.¹⁰⁸

In 2020, COVID-19 swept through the U.S. and delivered multiple shocks to the food system. The rise of COVID-19 infections on farms¹⁰⁹ and at processing plants¹¹⁰ and resulting business shutdowns invoked a growing fear of food shortages. On April 28, 2020, President Trump issued an executive order giving the Secretary of Agriculture authority under the Defense Production Act (DPA) to keep meat and poultry processing plants open despite pandemic concerns; the order also gave USDA authority to keep open all "food supply chain resources."¹¹¹ FDA was not named in the executive order but the agency was implicated, as both the USDA and FDA are responsible for food safety, with FDA overseeing most of the overall food supply. To resolve outstanding questions, on May 18, 2020, USDA and the FDA signed an MOU clarifying how they would work together to exercise the plenary authority seemingly given to USDA under the DPA.¹¹² Because so many federal agencies share a role in U.S. food system governance, it is difficult to identify one clear regulatory leader, even in times of crisis.

In recent years, federal agencies have opened communication channels and agreed that certain food problems require the coordination of two or more agencies.¹¹³ However, the aforementioned agreements and MOUs are limited in their effectiveness. While they symbolize a commitment to work together on particular issues, they fail to address the broader set of actors and externalities implicated by the food system. Without expanding interagency support and having a coordinated plan in place, these MOUs between two or three agencies in response to narrow food system issues cannot effectively address the broad, long-term challenges facing the food system.

National strategies in other sectors demonstrate ongoing political will within the U.S. to utilize this type of mechanism to align and ultimately achieve national goals. In recent years, the U.S. developed national strategies on a broad range of issues, incorporating the same guiding principles as the strategies analyzed in the *Blueprint*. For example, in 2018 the Trump administration launched The National Biodefense Strategy, designed to strengthen preparedness and response to biological threats.¹¹⁴ This strategy reinforces the importance of a central coordinating body and appoints the Department of Health and Human Services (HHS) to manage oversight and implementation of the strategy. The strategy also encourages interagency and stakeholder participation, creating an interagency working group of key federal agencies and promoting coordination with the public and private sectors.¹¹⁵ The 2020 National Strategy to Secure 5G also encourages interagency coordination and public-private collaboration, affirming the notion that participation of key stakeholders ensures policy changes are appropriately informed.¹¹⁶ The 2019 National Intelligence Strategy emphasizes the importance of building public trust and aims to offer transparency about intelligence information and activities while protecting national security.¹¹⁷ These examples indicate the U.S. continues to regard national strategies as effective tools for organizing coordinated responses to vital issues of national concern even when more limited in scope than the food system.



2. PROGRESS ON INTERNATIONAL EXAMPLES OF NATIONAL FOOD STRATEGIES

Since 2017, the international community has witnessed increased support for the use of national food strategies to address complex food system issues. As discussed above, the *Blueprint* highlighted six countries for their adoption of national food strategies, memorializing priorities and goals to address existing food systems issues and guide future decision-making. These national strategies typically responded to a set of substantive concerns depending on a country's particular challenges and aspirations. While the strategies of developed countries typically cover a range of substantive issues including environment, economy, trade, health, and nutrition, those of developing countries are often focused on food insecurity and nutrition issues that have reached crisis levels. As described below, several of the countries included as examples in the Blueprint have undertaken more concrete commitments since 2017, and some, such as the United Kingdom, are the in the midst of comprehensive updates to their strategies. In addition, other countries, most notably Canada, have developed national food strategies since 2017. Taken together, these international examples of national food strategies provide a compelling case for creation of one in the U.S.

A. REVISITING THE NATIONAL FOOD STRATEGIES ANALYZED IN THE 2017 BLUEPRINT

Since 2017, the countries highlighted in the Blueprint have responded to changed administrations, restructuring of government, and continued strain on their food system in many of the same ways as the United States. Consequently, their progress toward implementing comprehensive national food strategies has been varied, but provides useful analogies and takeaways for the United States.



UNITED KINGDOM

The United Kingdom has long valued comprehensive, coordinated national strategies as a tool to address complex, interrelated food system challenges. Since 2017, the U.K. has experienced a significant shift in government as it left the European Union on January 31, 2020.¹¹⁸ Consequently, the U.K. government has been in a state of transition over the past year but has continued its focus on policy coordination across the food system. At this pivotal moment, it has recognized that the pandemic, coupled with its radical shift in governance, provides the impetus for a new approach to food system law and policymaking.

Spurred by financial crises in 2007-2008, in 2010, the British government released the country's food strategy paper, *Food 2030*.¹¹⁹ This strategy articulated the government's vision for a "sustainable and secure food system for 2030" and was prompted, in large part, by the government's continued lack of coordination around food policy.¹²⁰ Since the release of *Food 2030*, the U.K. has undergone two changes in administration and the strategy was eventually dropped.¹²¹ Due to the United Kingdom's decision to leave the European Union ("Brexit"), the strategy would require significant revision, as commentators predict Brexit will have a significant impact on the U.K.'s food system.¹²²

In 2019, the Department for Environment, Food & Rural Affairs' (DEFRA) Secretary of State proposed launching an independent review and appointed an independent lead, who also serves as a non-executive board member of DEFRA, to undertake a comprehensive review of the food system in the U.K.¹²³ To engage in information gathering, the U.K.'s government created a consultation period, which resulted in responses from 1,600 citizens and other stakeholders in the food system.¹²⁴ The government also launched a stand-alone website for the forthcoming National Food Strategy that includes an explanation of stakeholder engagement.¹²⁵ To review and form the strategy, the U.K. government plans to incorporate a Citizens' Assembly of randomly chosen individuals of varying demographics,¹²⁶ a National Food Conversation, focus groups, and field visits.¹²⁷ The U.K. government also announced an advisory panel for the National Food Strategy that includes members from retail, NGOs, food manufacturing, agriculture, and academia.¹²⁸

In July 2020, in response to COVID-19, the U.K. released Part One of its National Food Strategy, which does not provide a comprehensive, long-term plan for the food system, but rather includes a set of recommendations to address food system disruptions caused and exacerbated by the pandemic and to address the U.K.'s transition from the EU.¹²⁹ This report was unexpected, as the U.K. had intended to release its comprehensive long-term national strategy.¹³⁰ However, due to the COVID-19 pandemic, the U.K. quickly shifted gears and developed a responsive national strategy to address both the issues raised by the pandemic and those arising as a result of the U.K.'s move from the EU.¹³¹



The UK National Food Strategy: Part One — July 2020

Given its impetus, the Part One report is centered on two main themes: (1) addressing issues faced by the U.K.'s most "disadvantaged children"; and (2) sovereignty, trade, and standards of quality.¹³² Specifically, under the first theme, the strategy includes several directives focused on expanding food assistance programs.¹³³ Under the second theme, the strategy suggests increased import restrictions to prevent food from entering the U.K. that fails to meet its rigorous environmental and animal welfare standards and the creation of a set of core certification standards to be developed by a newly created Trade and Agriculture Commission.¹³⁴ The U.K. intends to release a Part Two report, which will constitute a comprehensive plan with recommendations for the government to use in developing its overarching National Food Strategy in 2021.¹³⁵ This strategy will be based on the comprehensive review of the evidence, responses received during the consultation period, and "deliberative debates" with citizens.¹³⁶



SCOTLAND

The Scottish government continued to make forward progress on coordinated food system governance by committing to consult on proposals for a Good Food Nation Bill in 2018 to implement its 2009 National Food and Drink Policy.¹³⁷ In response to the consultation, over 800 organizations and individuals expressed a desire for the government to "ensure the right to food" through a systems approach to policymaking.¹³⁸

Additionally, respondents advocated for coordinated policymaking across a number of areas including climate change, human rights, and transport.¹³⁹ Stakeholders also called for more provisions about local food systems, nutrition and public health, and food access and affordability.¹⁴⁰ As a result, the Scottish Programme for Government 2019 to 2020, which is published each year to lay out the government's action plan for the year, included a commitment to bring a bill forward that would enact the Good Food Nation bill into law.¹⁴¹

BRAZIL



The *Blueprint* commended Brazil's national food strategy for its commitment to including civil society as actual policymakers rather than consultants or participants. However, since 2017, Brazil pulled back from its commitment to maintain a national food policy. Former President Lula established the National Food and Nutrition Security Policy (PLANSAN) by decree in 2010, which constitutionally recognized food access as a human right and established a general policy framework that would be implemented and articulated by multiple government agencies, as well as civil society members.¹⁴²

After President Bolsonaro came to power in 2019, he took several steps to undermine PLANSAN, which were largely possible because the Policy was created through decree rather than legislation. First, through an interim measure, President Bolsonaro eliminated Brazil's National Council for Food and Nutrition Security (CONSEA), an advisory body established in 1994 made up of two-thirds civil society members and one-third government representatives. This action significantly reduced, if not eliminated, federal coordination on food security issues.¹⁴³ Prior to its termination, CONSEA convened regular national food security conferences to bring together stakeholders in the food system and elaborate new implementation plans for PLANSAN, which is a three-year national food and nutrition security policy.¹⁴⁴ Without these regular meetings and CONSEA's leadership, it is unlikely the government will articulate a new iteration of PLANSAN for 2020-2023 following the last plan's expiration in 2019.¹⁴⁵ Consequently, the Bolsonaro regime's actions have stunted the PLANSAN process and food security policymaking at a federal level, demonstrating how strategies developed through the executive branch may suffer from changing political climates.



B. A NEW NATIONAL FOOD STRATEGY IN CANADA

In addition to countries continuing to move forward with their national food strategies since 2017, Canada's government heeded the calls of grassroots activists and developed the *Food Policy for Canada: Everyone at the Table*, a written strategy resulting from a 2015 mandate by Prime Minister Trudeau and led by Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada (AAFC) as the lead agency.¹⁴⁶ **Due to its proximity to the U.S., as well as similarities in the governmental structures exercising oversight of the food system, Canada provides a compelling example for the United States, demonstrating the value in developing a coordinated and comprehensive vision for food system law and policymaking**.

CANADA



The *Food Policy for Canada*, released in 2019, embodies many of the recommendations set forth in the *Blueprint* based on examples of what worked well in other countries. The Canadian government allocated \$134.4 million to specific programs over five years, and while some have suggested the funding may be insufficient to fully implement the Policy's goals, this amount of funding represents a substantial commitment toward implementing the policy (see chart II below for details).¹⁴⁷ An additional allocation of \$15 million was made to the Canadian Northern Economic Development Agency to establish the Northern Isolated Community Initiative Fund to bolster local and indigenous food production projects.¹⁴⁸

FUNDING AMOUNT	PROGRAM	DESCRIPTION
\$50 MILLION	Local Food Infrastructure Fund	Supporting a wide range of community-led projects that improve access to safe, healthy, and culturally diverse food. These could include greenhouses, community kitchens, projects at food banks, and farmers markets.
\$15 MILLION	Northern Isolated Community Initiatives Fund	Supporting community-led projects like greenhouses, community freezers, and skills training to strengthen Indigenous food systems, and combatting significant challenges in accessing healthy food in Canada's North.
\$25 MILLION	Buy Canadian Promotion Campaign	Promoting Canadian agricultural products thanks to a new Canada Brand, as well as through online and in- store Buy Canadian campaigns. Increasing consumer pride and confidence in our food.
\$26.3 MILLION	Reducing Food Waste	Launching a challenge to fund the most innovative food waste reduction proposals in food processing, grocery retail, and food service—as well as leadership by the federal government to cut its own food waste.
\$24.4 MILLION	Tackling Food Fraud	Cracking down on mislabeling and misrepresentation of food products, helping to protect consumers from deception and companies from unfair competition.

Chart II: Funding Allocations Made as a Result of Food Policy for Canada

The *Food Policy for Canada* was developed with significant public input from stakeholders such as industry, various food system advocates, and the country's indigenous populations.¹⁴⁹ These efforts included an online survey, a national summit focused on food policy, regional and local town hall and consultation events organized by various members of Parliament, community events led by civil society groups, and self-led discussions through National Indigenous Organizations.¹⁵⁰ The online survey resulted in 45,000 responses with 71.2 percent of those coming from the general public.¹⁵¹ The consultations focused on four themes identified prior to the consultations: (1) increased food access and security; (2) health and food safety; (3) natural resource conservation; and (4) producing high-quality food products.¹⁵²



Input received from Canadians and Stakeholders in 2017

Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada, What We Heard: Consultaions on a Food Policy for Canada

To conduct outreach and ensure input from traditionally marginalized and underserved groups, the Canadian government engaged Food Secure Canada, a nonprofit organization comprised of members from a multitude of backgrounds, to help conduct discussion groups and receive public comments.¹⁵³ Additionally, the Canadian government undertook bilateral conversations with National Indigenous Organizations to "identify preferred approaches for Indigenous engagement," which resulted in self-led discussions with governmental support.¹⁵⁴ The Canadian Federation of Agriculture, Canada's largest farm and agribusiness organization, also hosted a number of discussions with the government, civil society, industry, Indigenous organizations, and members of academia in an attempt to find areas of common interest.¹⁵⁵

Advocates in Canada have long pressed the need for democratized and coordinated food system governance, suggesting that diverse groups of stakeholders needed to be engaged in co-developing food system policy and overseeing its implementation.¹⁵⁶ To promote diversity and inclusion, the Policy calls for ongoing representation of Canada's diverse food system stakeholders through the formation of the Canadian Food Policy Advisory Council (CFPAC).¹⁵⁷ CFPAC which will work with a newlycreated senior-level interdepartmental committee on food policy,¹⁵⁸ or an interagency group working across governmental departments to encourage policy coordination.¹⁵⁹ Members of the Advisory Council are appointed after nomination or through an open application process, with the goal being that all people living in Canada are part of an ongoing dialogue on food system issues.¹⁶⁰



INTERAGENCY WORKING GROUP VS. ADVISORY GROUP (Fig. 4)

An interagency working group or task force ("working group") and an advisory council or committee ("advisory council") engage different constituencies and serve different roles. Working groups consist of federal employees, such as agency heads or representatives whereas advisory councils typically draw their members from outside the federal government. Their respective roles are closely tied to their membership: while working groups serve to facilitate coordination across federal agencies, advisory councils serve to solicit feedback and advice from key stakeholders and experts external to government.

To ensure the durability and ongoing responsiveness of the *Food Policy for Canada*, the Canadian government should ensure periodic updating of the strategy. While the Canadian government has yet to articulate a specific plan for future updates, it has conveyed that "specific and measurable targets for each of the priority outcomes will also be developed by federal partners with input from the Canadian Food Policy Advisory Council."¹⁶¹ Once these priority outcomes are determined, the Canadian government envisions a "cross-government reporting framework" that will monitor progress in these areas.¹⁶² Ideally, this framework will enable the Canadian government to assess progress and adjust priorities, budgeting, and implementation measures to ensure the strategy remains relevant and effective.



While it is clear the government expended a great deal of effort ensuring participation by varied stakeholder groups, critics have noted opportunities for improvement. For example, the *Food Policy for Canada* relegates CFPAC to an advisory role, leaving ultimate policy decisions to AAFC and other relevant agencies rather than engaging stakeholders as true policymakers to reflect participatory governance principles.¹⁶³ Even more concerning to some is that CFPAC had not yet been formed as of October 2020, even though the application period took place in September 2019.¹⁶⁴ Without CFPAC in place, important policy decisions (such as those relating to the food system response during COVID-19) are exposed to the same pitfalls that gave rise to the National Food Policy in the first place; namely, private interests and the federal government making extempore decisions without giving due consideration to the needs of a range of Canadian stakeholders.¹⁶⁵ Because *Food Policy for Canada* is still fairly new, it remains to be seen how well Canada's government will implement the strategy, meet the identified outcomes, and work to evolve and adapt the strategy over time.

As mentioned above, Canada is a strong analogue to the U.S. both in terms of its food system and governmental structure. The fact that Canada has chosen to create a national food strategy after years of grassroots activism, coupled with the U.K. and Scotland's continued efforts to implement and build upon their national food strategies, sends strong signals to the U.S. about the value of a national food strategy as a mechanism for coordination that can address a wide range of challenges and foster a stronger, more sustainable, and resilient food system.

IV. COVID-19 CONFIRMS URGENT NEED FOR A NATIONAL FOOD STRATEGY

The impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on the food system have been unprecedented and cataclysmic. These impacts have been well-documented in the press and have shaken our collective conscience. Many of the issues presented—soaring rates of food insecurity and reduced access,¹⁶⁶ disproportionate impacts to underserved and BIPOC communities,¹⁶⁷ inadequately protected food system workers,¹⁶⁸ staggering amounts of lost income for farmers and threats to farm viability,¹⁶⁹ increased food waste,¹⁷⁰ concentrated distribution networks,¹⁷¹ and concerns about food safety¹⁷²—existed before the pandemic at crisis levels. While the pandemic exacerbated these conditions, it also heightened awareness of these issues among the general public. **Unfortunately, due in part to the lack of formal structures for interagency cooperation, federal solutions have been piecemeal, incremental, and responsive rather than sweeping, strategic, and proactive.**

Largely, the failure to respond comprehensively stems from the fact that regulation of the U.S. food system is incredibly fragmented, confusing, and uncoordinated. As noted above, it is widely known that the two primary federal agencies regulating the food supply are FDA and USDA, yet few understand the explicit jurisdictional divide between them. This directly impacted the national COVID-19 response. Because of the skyrocketing rates of COVID-19 among food system workers and the resulting fear of major disruption to the food supply, in April 2020, President Trump issued the Executive Order discussed previously delegating authority to USDA to maintain food supply chain operations during the pandemic.¹⁷³ However, Executive Order 13917 gave USDA authority over aspects of the food supply outside the agency's jurisdiction.¹⁷⁴ Although FDA was not explicitly named in the Executive Order, the agency was implicated as it shares regulatory authority over the food supply chain with USDA— indeed, FDA has sole authority over the majority of the food supply. To address the jurisdictional issue, USDA and FDA were able to work together to develop a memorandum of understanding



outlining a process for FDA to continue exercising its authority over aspects of the food supply chain not under USDA authority with a mechanism to alert USDA regarding any potential disruptions.¹⁷⁵ This example only serves to highlight that even governmental actors fail to appreciate the complex web of regulatory authority over the food system, and illustrates the need for increased coordination across agencies, which may not always be as cooperative as in the example above.

USDA CORONAVIRUS FOOD ASSISTANCE PROGRAM

\$19 BILLION IN INITIAL ALLOCATIONS



Additionally, increased planning and coordination among Congress and government agencies could have expedited the rollout of the Coronavirus Food Assistance Program (CFAP), the major relief package announced by USDA in late April 2020 to assist food-insecure families and struggling agricultural producers with pandemic-related need.¹⁷⁶ Funded by both the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security (CARES) Act and the Families First Coronavirus Response Act, CFAP allocated \$19 billion to support farmers and ranchers.¹⁷⁷ through two programs created by USDA. The first provided \$16 billion in direct support payments to agricultural producers who suffered financial hardship due to lost demand and oversupply caused by the pandemic.¹⁷⁸ The remaining \$3 billion funded the Farmers to Families Food Box Program, through which USDA solicited bids from businesses to aggregate fresh produce, dairy, and meat into food distribution boxes for needy families.¹⁷⁹ In response to continued need, USDA allocated additional funding for this program several months later.¹⁸⁰ As discussed below, the CFAP programs offered innovative solutions to immediate concerns, but lacked strategic oversight and failed to consider long-term issues, leading to slow and inconsistent relief for needy families and producers.

The following sections describe some of the many food system challenges exacerbated by the COVID-19 pandemic. For each of these challenges, governmental actors at the federal, state, and local level attempted to respond, but often faced obstacles preventing them from responding quickly and systematically. These obstacles came in the form of Congress' failure to develop comprehensive, strategic



legislation that could have benefitted from state and local government input, as well as federal agencies' failure to operate within an existing framework by which to align their actions. In many cases, the lack of a national strategy hampered legislative and regulatory responses. The examples below discuss how COVID-19 illuminated many deep, pervasive challenges in the food system. In addition, they illustrate how strategic national coordination could have facilitated more effective crisis response while also resulting in strategic solutions that lay the groundwork for the needed longer-term, comprehensive, and transformative change to the food system.

A. FARM AND FOOD WORKERS ARE DEEMED "ESSENTIAL" YET ARE UNPROTECTED

Despite being essential to the food supply, farm and food system workers who grow, harvest, and process our nation's food supply are underprotected by most labor laws.¹⁸¹ Agricultural workers, as one example, are paid sub-minimum wages for strenuous labor without overtime pay ¹⁸²and are at significant risk for "fatalities and injuries, work-related lung diseases, noise-induced hearing loss, skin diseases, and certain cancers associated with chemical use and prolonged sun exposure."¹⁸³ Workers slaughtering and processing beef, pork, and chicken "have some of the highest rates of occupational injury and illness in the United States." ¹⁸⁴Amidst these pervasive problems, COVID-19 called into sharp focus the dangers and risks associated with work across the food supply chain, as well as the dearth of protections available to support this marginalized population. As of September 14, 2020, at least 59,041 workers in the food system (42,537 meatpacking workers, 9,448 food processing workers, and 7,056 farmworkers) had tested positive for COVID-19, and at least 252 workers (203 meatpacking workers, 34 food processing workers, and 15 farmworkers) had died.¹⁸⁵

According to President Trump's March 16, 2020, "Coronavirus Guidance for America," those who work in critical infrastructure sectors "have a special responsibility to maintain [a] normal work schedule."¹⁸⁶ The Department of Homeland Security included food and agriculture among the list of critical infrastructure that should be prioritized for in-person work in the face of any stay-at-home orders.¹⁸⁷ Based on this guidance, **the many cities and states that subsequently developed stay-at-home orders generally declared farm and food system workers essential, meaning they were expected to come to work in person.**

WORKERS TESTING POSITIVE FOR COVID-19

As of September 14, 2020

59,041 total positive tests

- 42,537 meatpacking
- 9,448 food processing
- 7,056 farmworkers

252 worker deaths

- 203 meatpacking
- 34 food processing
- 15 farmworkers

Source: Leah Douglas, Mapping Covid-19 outbreaks in the food system, Food & Environment Reporting Network (Sept. 17, 2020)



MAPPING COVID-19 OUTBREAKS IN THE FOOD SYSTEM

Source: Leah Douglas, Mapping Covid-19 outbreaks in the food system, Food & Environment Reporting Network (Sept. 17, 2020) An assessment from the Centers for Disease Control revealed that approximately one month after states began to enact shelter in place orders excluding food and agricultural workers, there were 4,913 COVID-19 cases affecting meat and poultry workers from 115 facilities and 20 deaths, making these facilities "hot spots."¹⁸⁸ Where the reporting accounted for the respondents' race and ethnicity, these rates were disproportionately higher among minority racial groups.¹⁸⁹ Many state and local officials became increasingly worried about transmission rates, encouraging meat and poultry facilities to shut down; Smithfield and Tyson announced indefinite closures of facilities in South Dakota and Iowa.¹⁹⁰ Despite being told to stay open as critical infrastructure, meat processing facilities began shutting down.

In the midst of these rising outbreaks and shutdowns of meat processing facilities, on April 28, 2020,

President Trump invoked his authority under the Defense Production Act, mentioned above, which permits the president to expedite the production of certain resources in times of crisis. The Executive Order deemed "meat and poultry" as "scarce and critical material," and directed USDA "to ensure that meat and poultry processors continue operations[.]"¹⁹¹ The Executive Order noted that industry responses to outbreaks of COVID-19 resulted in reduced output or facility closures, both of which threatened the meat and poultry supply chain and the continued availability of these products for American consumers.¹⁹² The decision to keep plants open to maintain the meat supply was shortsighted in the absence of mandatory requirements to maintain worker health and safety, as it caused continued virus outbreaks that made it difficult to keep facilities fully staffed and reduced production capacity.¹⁹³

Two days before the President's Executive Order, CDC and OSHA issued joint interim guidance¹⁹⁴ recommending meat processing employers develop COVID-19 assessment and control plans, noting "distinctive risk factors" for these workers including proximity, prolonged working hours, and shared The federal government's push to keep meat and poultry plants open to maintain the meat supply was shortsighted in the absence of mandatory requirements to maintain worker health and safety, as it caused continued virus outbreaks that made it difficult to keep facilities fully staffed and reduced production capacity.

transportation.¹⁹⁵ This guidance was slow to arrive, coming weeks after facilities began to shut down in early April. Additionally, because it was issued as guidance rather than a mandate, there remained questions about whether employers were required to comply and whether the agencies would act to enforce.¹⁹⁶

DELAYED FOOD SAFETY GUIDANCE FOR FOOD AND FARM BUSINESSES AT A CRITICAL MOMENT

COVID-19 was declared a national emergency in the U.S. on March 13, 2020,¹⁹⁷ however, the federal government was slow to release guidance for safety measures in the food industry. The CDC did not release industry-specific guidance for meat and poultry processing workers until April 26, 2020 (at which time it issued joint interim guidance with OSHA),¹⁹⁸ and did not release guidance for agricultural workers until June.¹⁹⁹ That same month, USDA and FDA issued a joint statement stating that COVID-19 was not a threat to food safety because the virus was unlikely transmissible through food.²⁰⁰ By summer, USDA and FDA still had failed to create guidance for food processing facilities and their workers to maintain food safety and safe food distribution,²⁰¹ though FDA did release guidance for retail food establishments in May.²⁰² This left producers to make critical decisions on illness reporting, contract tracing, and providing PPE before giving notice to the FDA or USDA.²⁰³ On June 24, the CDC and OSHA, in consultation with FDA, also released industry-specific guidance on COVID-19 protections for seafood processing workers.²⁰⁴ It was not until September, six months after the start of the public health emergency and well after the peak season for farmers markets,²⁰⁵ that the CDC issued COVID-19 guidance for outdoor farmers markets; at the same time CDC also issued guidance for food pantries and food distribution sites.²⁰⁶

OSHA also issued an Interim Enforcement Response Plan for COVID-19, specifying that the agency did not intend to perform on-site investigations of alleged workplace hazards, but rather would send a letter to the employer requiring a response within five days detailing how the issue would be addressed.²⁰⁷ According to its enforcement plan, OSHA stated it would only initiate an investigation if the employer's response was deemed inadequate.²⁰⁸ Thus, the OSHA and CDC joint guidance lacked force because employers were not required to comply, nor was OSHA planning to enforce it in any meaningful way. The joint guidance on workplace safety, in conjunction with OSHA's enforcement plan and the President's Executive Order, sent a set of conflicting messages regarding how these facilities could safely remain open, and whether employers were expected to institute the measures recommended to ensure safe working conditions for meat and poultry workers.

Many suggest that OSHA's response in the early months of the pandemic was grossly inadequate in the face of serious allegations of unsafe working conditions.²⁰⁹ Moreover, since the industry employs a disproportionately high rate of immigrants, people of color, and individuals living in low-income households,²¹⁰ concerns about job loss, deportation, and other forms of retaliation are particularly acute in the event there are workplace hazards to report. Due to increased pressure, OSHA eventually issued two violations in September – one against a Smithfield plant in Sioux Falls, South Dakota,²¹¹ the second against JBS Foods in Greeley, Colorado²¹² for failing to protect workers under the general duty clause. Both of these facilities were "hot spots" early on in the pandemic, but quickly reopened their facilities without taking appropriate protective measures.²¹³ Given the fact that these violations were issued almost six months after outbreaks occurred in the facilities and that the fines were quite low—for example, the Smithfield fine was only \$13,494—the likelihood they will serve as deterrents is low.

COVID INFECTION AMONG USDA FSIS INSPECTORS

USDA assured producers that it was able to account for inspector absenteeism in meat facilities and that lines of communication between the agencies and producers would remain open.²¹⁴ Even after 123 FSIS inspectors were under quarantine, and another 171 field employees contracted COVID-19, resulting in four deaths, FSIS inspectors were not given PPE, but instead offered a stipend to purchase their own.²¹⁵ Without changing the food safety model to account for COVID-19 complications and inspectors being in quarantine, facility inspections were delayed or rescheduled, presenting vulnerabilities to food safety.²¹⁶



While the federal government has been criticized for the inadequacy of the measures taken to protect meat and poultry workers during the COVID-19 emergency, these issues are not unique to the pandemic. Despite playing what was acknowledged as an essential role in the food system, meat and poultry processing workers have faced inequitable and dangerous working conditions for decades, including the long working hours cited as a risk factor for COVID-19 by the CDC and OSHA in their guidance. Additionally, these workers deal with repetitive motions that cause injuries, safety risks due to overly fast line speeds, and health conditions resulting from poor air quality.²¹⁷ Fragmentation in agency oversight, such as the lack of clarity as to the division of labor between OSHA and USDA to help spot worker safety violations in meat and poultry plants,²¹⁸ hampers efforts to address safety and health risks for workers.

Fragmentation in agency oversight, such as the lack of clarity as to the division of labor between OSHA and USDA to help spot worker safety violations in meat and poultry plants, hampers efforts to address safety and health risks for workers.

The GAO reported in 2017 that better collaboration was needed between OSHA and USDA to spot and address workplace safety violations.²¹⁹ Without a clear mandate to USDA that inspectors should identify and report noncompliance with the CDC and OSHA's guidance, this additional level of oversight has been lacking.

While this section is focused on food processing workers, many frontline food system workers, including those that work in farms and at grocery stores, restaurants, and food banks, have been largely under-protected during the pandemic.²²⁰ The pandemic has further highlighted and heightened the inequality faced by workers throughout the food system who have been deemed essential, yet left largely unprotected, making the need for coordinated national planning to address the needs of these workers more vital than ever.

B. STAGGERING RATES OF FOOD INSECURITY

The impact of COVID-19 on food insecurity in the United States cannot be overstated. Food insecurity is a "household-level economic and social condition of limited or uncertain access to adequate food."221 Prevalent in both urban and rural areas, issues related to food insecurity are concentrated in areas marked by low incomes and communities of color.222 Before the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic, 10.5 percent of households in the United States were food insecure.²²³ Additionally, 4 percent of American households experienced "very low food security," meaning they faced "disrupted food patterns and reduced food intake."224 As COVID-19 spread across the country, leading to shutdowns and business closures, the ensuing downturn in the economy caused unemployment rates to soar, making previously food-secure members of the population suddenly food insecure. This worsened circumstances for those who were already food insecure.²²⁵ By April 2020, the percentage of food-insecure households was estimated to have more than doubled since pre-pandemic rates, with food insecurity figures ranging from 22 to 38 percent.²²⁶ Additionally, the rate of households experiencing "very low food security" more than doubled from 4 percent to an estimated 11 percent.²²⁷





Share of Adults (Overall and With Children) Reporting Their Household Sometimes or Often Does Not Have Enough to Eat: 2005-2018 and May-July 2020

Source: Not Enough to Eat: COVID-19 Deepens America's Hunger Crisis, Food Research & Action Center, (Sept. 2020)

The U.S. government invests heavily in a range of programs to provide support to food insecure Americans, including the Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program (SNAP), the Special Supplemental Nutrition Program for Women, Infants, and Children (WIC), and the National School Lunch Program and School Breakfast Program (NSLP/SBP).²²⁸ In addition, unemployment insurance and other cash benefits support food security by providing direct financial assistance to supplement the income of individuals and families to cover their food and other basic needs.²²⁹ Food-insecure households may also receive in-kind support from food banks and other nonprofit organizations. Some of the food provided through these organizations is federally funded through programs like the Emergency Food Assistance Program (TEFAP).²³⁰ Despite this safety net, the quick onset of the COVID-19 pandemic led to unprecedented food security challenges, including the inability to route food to food banks as rapidly as needed, looming budget shortfalls for food banks amidst increased demand, reduced donations, staffing shortages, and challenges coordinating the response between federal actors and state and local actors.²³¹

In March 2020, Congress passed the Families First Coronavirus Response Act²³² and the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security (CARES) Act,²³³ both of which bolstered relief for food-insecure households. The Families First Act temporarily gave USDA and the states broader authority to expand SNAP, including providing supplemental benefits to already eligible households, offering meal replacement benefits through Pandemic-EBT for households with school-aged children to account for lost school meals, suspending work requirements for SNAP eligibility, and increasing flexibility for states to manage growing numbers of applications and resulting workloads.²³⁴ The CARES Act allocated \$24.6 billion in additional funding to "Domestic Food Programs" including the Child Nutrition Programs, SNAP, the Commodity Assistance Program, and the Emergency Food Assistance Program.²³⁵ At the agency level, USDA also created flexibility once schools shut down, allowing schools to utilize the summer food service program model for food distribution from March-June 2020; after much push from advocates,²³⁶ USDA extended this authorization through December 2020,²³⁷ and ultimately throughout the full 2020-21 school year.²³⁸

While the Families First and CARES Acts gave states some implementation flexibility and provided enough funding to ensure SNAP's solvency,²³⁹ many voiced concerns over the acts' shortcomings. One area of concern for food security advocates was Families First's failure to increase SNAP eligibility and monthly benefits.²⁴⁰ Eligibility expansions and benefit increases in social safety net programs have been shown to soften some of the adverse food security consequences that accompany economic downturns.²⁴¹ For instance, during the 2008 recession, increases in government spending through SNAP contributed to local employment at a higher rate than all federal government spending combined.²⁴²

In addition to putting funds in the hands of food insecure households, the federal government also took steps to distribute food. In particular, programs focused on surplus food that would otherwise be wasted due to shutdowns in the food service sector. The Families First Act provided increased funding for TEFAP to enable food banks to purchase more food and to manage administrative costs.²⁴³ However, even with the substantial injections of federal funding, many food banks were at risk of exhausting

The "Farmers to Families Food Box Program" was set up to purchase and deliver dairy, meat products, fruits, and vegetables to families in need of food assistance, providing income to farmers and ranchers who had lost their supply chains while ensuring the provision of fresh food to those in need. their TEFAP inventory.²⁴⁴ Simultaneously, fresh food was continuing to be wasted across the country as many farmers lost their primary markets.

In April 2020, USDA announced the creation of the Coronavirus Food Assistance Program (CFAP) based on authority and funding from the Families First and CARES Acts to provide direct support to farmers and ranchers, as well as procure and distribute surplus foods to needy families.²⁴⁵ The "Farmers to Families Food Box Program" was set up to purchase and deliver dairy, meat products, fruits, and vegetables to families in need of food assistance, providing income to farmers and ranchers who had lost their supply chains while ensuring the provision of fresh food to those in need. USDA contracted with food distributors to package and deliver the food boxes to nonprofit organizations and food banks for distribution to families.²⁴⁶





At the outset, several challenges delayed the distribution of food to recipients or continued to cause food to go to waste. First, it took USDA several months to mount a response to the dual challenges of surplus food going to waste and rising food insecurity. The COVID-19 public health emergency was announced in March 2020, the Farmers to Families Food Box program was announced in April, and the first food box deliveries were not made until mid-May.²⁴⁷ Further, USDA did not oversee the distribution of the food boxes. Instead, businesses that received contracts to fill the boxes were solely responsible for selecting recipient entities and delivering the food boxes where they promised to deliver them.²⁴⁸ USDA also came under fire for the companies selected as distributors, ultimately rescinding offers to some companies that critics had derided as either unqualified to manage the operation or unfamiliar with the destination communities.²⁴⁹ When making its contract selections, the agency excluded the nation's three largest commercial food distributors.²⁵⁰ While this may have been an effort to ensure participation from a larger range of local and regional distributors, it also meant that many contracts went to less reliable organizations. Notably, even though the program was intended to benefit local and regional farmers and producers, according to analysis of the first round of funding, only seven percent of the funding actually served these groups.²⁵¹ Finally, in terms of geographic representation, although USDA said it would choose contractors from seven regions that would have spanned the contiguous U.S., some states had no chosen contractors.²⁵²

The initial delay—and early lack of governmental oversight—impeded the immediate success of the program,²⁵³ making it difficult to ensure it was providing comprehensive coverage to all households facing food insecurity.²⁵⁴ The delay and challenges with the rollout of the Farmers to Families Food Box program are not surprising, given that the agency was making decisions without the benefit of additional expertise or coordination from other agencies at the federal, state, and local levels. Notwithstanding these early challenges, however, by the end of September 2020, an estimated 100 million boxes had been delivered to individuals in need.²⁵⁵ With more coordination across levels of government, USDA's response could have been faster, more efficient, and more successful in its initial rollout. Coordination with more state and local government and key stakeholders in industry and the nonprofit sector, as could be done with a national food strategy, could offer USDA vital guidance to ensure quicker response and more comprehensive coverage of its program, both in terms of farmers and distributors included, geography covered, and nonprofits and end recipients served.²⁵⁶


Source: ReFED https://covid.refed.com/overview

C. VASTLY INCREASED FOOD WASTE

As COVID-19 swept through the country, states ordered businesses, schools, and restaurants to shut down. With the food service industry closed, farmers lost key markets, leaving them overwhelmed with excess supply. Simultaneously, because of the rising rates of food insecurity documented above, food banks faced a 40-50 percent increase in demand for their products.²⁵⁷ Amidst excess supply and increased demand, it should have been easy to reroute food to different end points. However, most farms produce specific products for specific sectors (i.e., potatoes for french fries in restaurants).²⁵⁸ This system allows for speedy and efficient supply chains, but fails to provide flexibility to move products to different sectors when needed.²⁵⁹ Therefore, when the supply chain experiences disruptions, farmers are often left with excess product and no feasible market opportunities. Understanding the effects of COVID-19 on dairy and produce farmers, two of the hardest-hit sectors during the pandemic, helps further illustrate major limitations inherent to our food system.

Schools are the largest buyer of milk,²⁶⁰ and restaurants purchase 50 percent of all cheese and 60 percent of butter.²⁶¹ With school and restaurant closures, farmers who sold to distributors that supply these entities were left with thousands of gallons of milk and nowhere to sell it.²⁶² This oversupply continued even once farmers knew of the closures because their cows continued to produce milk.²⁶³ This excess milk resulted in extraordinary amounts of waste. Dairy Farmers of America, the largest dairy cooperative, estimated that farmers were dumping as much as 3.7 million gallons of milk each day,²⁶⁴ about five percent of the nation's milk supply.²⁶⁵ Ideally, farmers could reroute milk meant for schools to grocery stores or food banks. However, the current food system is not designed to quickly shift products from one supply chain to another. Dairy farms are typically set up to manage production, but not processing. Processing equipment is expensive, and contracts with dedicated processors, packagers, and distributors keep pricing steady.²⁶⁶ When large markets, such as restaurants and schools, shut down, processing plants also close. Moreover, even if dairy farmers package milk for retail consumer purchase or donation, they face additional challenges safely transporting their products.²⁶⁷ The dairy industry, like many other food sectors, does not have the capability to quickly adapt to abrupt shifts in the supply chain.

Produce farmers faced similar challenges. With much of the food service industry shut down, farmers were left with tens of millions of pounds of produce they could no longer sell.²⁶⁸ About half the produce industry sells to food service distributors who supply schools, restaurants, hotels, and other consumer-facing businesses.²⁶⁹ Under normal circumstances, produce is packaged in bulk to meet the specifications of the food service industry;²⁷⁰ these products are not required to follow nutrition labeling guidelines set by USDA and FDA for consumer-facing packaging.²⁷¹ Thus, redirecting produce to grocery stores would require not only a new supply route and new distribution contracts, but also either new packaging or relaxation of labeling requirements.²⁷² FDA did eventually relax some labeling requirements allowing retailers to sell products that were initially produced for the hospitality sector.²⁷³ However, these changes took time, and during that time, much food was unnecessarily wasted.

Similarly, many restaurants and other food vendors were left with a surplus of perishable goods while grocery stores and food banks were undersupplied.²⁷⁴ While restaurants can sell food items prepared on-site without following the same packaging requirements as retail foods, they were unable to comply with FDA regulations that require certain nutritional information on the packaging.²⁷⁵ At the same time USDA was scrambling to get enough food to food banks and into the hands of needy families, consumable food went to waste for no better reason than a slow response from officials at FDA.²⁷⁶ Increased coordination among agencies could have helped direct some of that food to the food banks and nonprofit organizations that were struggling to meet rising demand. The unnecessary waste underscores the need for a mechanism to easily reroute supply to meet changing conditions.

Even in the best of times, food donation can be difficult. Date labeling confusion, transportation costs, and lack of refrigerated storage space all make the donation of surplus food challenging for the hospitality and retail sectors.²⁷⁷ COVID-19 has only exacerbated these problems. First, food banks experienced decreased donations from retailers due to less excess supply, as the number of meals consumed at home and thus consumer purchases at retail quickly increased.²⁷⁸ Additionally, donations from the hospitality sector slowed as many of these businesses shut down completely. Fear of contracting the virus and social distancing orders also made it more difficult for food banks to recruit enough volunteers to pack and distribute products efficiently.²⁷⁹ A national food strategy could have enabled agencies to coordinate with one another, as well as with the private sector and other stakeholders, to respond in a faster and more coordinated manner to move products easily from one sector to another.



D. MAJOR THREATS TO FARM VIABILITY

Agriculture and related industries were hit hard by the COVID-19 pandemic, and the lack of coordination between government agencies and relevant stakeholders led to slow relief for agricultural producers. After the White House issued a national emergency declaration in mid-March,²⁸⁰ and in light of stay-at-home orders issued in many cities and states, many high-volume food purchasers, such as restaurants, processing facilities, school districts, and hospitality sector, closed down,²⁸¹ causing farmers to lose reliable markets.²⁸² Although relief programs were ultimately implemented, the relief plans lacked strategic oversight and long-term solutions, and the aid for farmers was slow due to missed opportunities for coordination between regulatory agencies.



Net Farm Income prior to COVID (NFI - blue line) represents the forecast in the absence of COVID-19 impacts in 2020 and 2021. The grey line accounts for COVID market impacts and the Coronavirus Food Assistance Program (CFAP) payments to agricultural producers. Net Farm Income without CFAP (orange line) represents a forecast of net farm income accounting for COVID-19 impacts but no direct payments from CFAP 1.

Note, the FAPRI farm income forecast for 2020 includes \$11 billion for CFAP 1 (unlike the ERS forecast which included \$16 billion) and \$5.8 billion in loans forgiven under the Paycheck Protection Program. Also, the FAPRI farm income forecast from early September 2020 did not include any payments related to CFAP 2.

With no strategy to divert agricultural products destined for large-scale food service establishments to empty grocery stores, harvests were left to rot in the fields,²⁸³ ultimately costing farmers millions of dollars in lost revenue.²⁸⁴ Yet, due in part to a lack of coordination, most pandemic-related agricultural losses were not covered by USDA's disaster assistance programs.²⁸⁵ In addition, farmers were ineligible for the U.S. Small Business Administration's (SBA) Economic Injury Disaster Loan (EIDL) program,²⁸⁶ making financial aid for struggling producers limited initially.

USDA offers several disaster assistance programs for farmers, such as federal crop insurance, the noninsured crop disaster assistance program (NAP), and emergency disaster (EM) loans.²⁸⁷ However, federal crop insurance and NAP must be purchased prior to planting.²⁸⁸ In many cases, farmers had not purchased insurance, meaning many crops were not covered by these programs.²⁸⁹ EM loans were similarly unavailable to farmers, as these become available after a farmer experiences a physical loss of crops or livestock.²⁹⁰ Economic losses are generally not covered by USDA's disaster assistance programs because some degree of physical loss is required.²⁹¹ Effectively, most farmers could not receive USDA support because pandemic-related market losses were not eligible losses under the agency's disaster assistance programs.

The SBA's EIDL program provides small businesses and nonprofit organizations with funds to mitigate economic injuries caused by a declared disaster.²⁹² Still, most agricultural enterprises were ineligible for EIDLs under the Small Business Administration Act because they could receive assistance from other programs offered by USDA.²⁹³ In late March 2020, the CARES Act temporarily expanded EIDL eligibility.²⁹⁴ However, the CARES Act language failed to specify that the EIDL expansion should include agricultural producers.²⁹⁵ In April 2020, members of Congress wrote to the SBA Administrator to clarify the legislature's intent to include agricultural businesses in the program,²⁹⁶ but the SBA did not accept farmers' EIDL applications for another month.²⁹⁷ Although both USDA's disaster assistance programs and SBA's EIDL program are now able to serve the farm sector, the fragmentation of disaster loan responsibility and lack of coordination between federal agencies slowed relief, causing farmers months without income.



1/ All other payments includes supplemental and ad hoc disaster assistance which in 2020 includes payments from the Coronavirus Food Assistance Program and Paycheck Protection Program loans. It also includes tobacco transition, Cotton Ginning Cost Share, and dairy payments.

Source: USDA, Economic Research Service, Farm Income and Wealth Statistics. Data as of September 2, 2020.

In addition to expanding the EIDL eligibility, as mentioned above, the Coronavirus Food Assistance Program (CFAP) offered direct payments to farmers and purchased foods for inclusion in the Farmers to Families Food Box program. However, without strategic planning and oversight, the \$16 billion CFAP direct support payments may raise equity issues that have emerged in recent analogous direct support programs. For example, an analysis of the Market Facilitation Program (MFP),²⁹⁸ an assistance program for farmers and ranchers impacted by retaliatory tariffs in 2018 and 2019, uncovered that the program disproportionately supported large agricultural enterprises owned by white men compared to family farms with nonwhite or female owners. Research found that 99.4 percent of MFP farm operation payments went to non-Hispanic white owners, and 91 percent of the payments went to male business owners.²⁹⁹ The top 20 percent of MFP recipients received 77 percent of the \$23.2 billion program payments, averaging \$123,132 each.³⁰⁰ By contrast, the bottom 80 percent of recipients received an average of only \$7,113 each.³⁰¹ Without transparent oversight and inclusion of a diverse array of agricultural producers, the CFAP direct support payments may also disproportionately support largescale operations and farming operations owned by white and male farmers at the expense of diverse farmers and smaller family farms, despite the stated goal in recent years in the U.S. farm bill to better support more diverse "socially-disadvantaged" farmers.³⁰²

Similarly, the Farmers to Families Food Box program failed to provide relief to many needy farmers. While the program was an innovative solution to oversupply and surging demand, it lacked the strategic, long-term planning needed to adequately support small and mid-sized farmers. Of the first round of Farmers to Families contracts, only seven percent of the funding was estimated to have been allocated to local or regional farms, cooperatives, or community organizations,³⁰³ despite the fact that many USDA programs in recent years have attempted to invest in small or mid-scale and local or regional farming, and engaging small and local farmers was a stated priority in the RFP soliciting contracts for the program.³⁰⁴ Further, as noted above, some of the chosen contractors raised concerns because they had little high-volume distribution experience. With more strategic coordination among government agencies and industry groups, the food box program could have supported more struggling farmers.





The CFAP programs offered innovative solutions in an effort to support farmers, but they were hindered in their response due to a lack of coordination across agencies and between government and industry stakeholders. Further, without a long-term strategy, as well as broad industry and public participation,

these programs are only temporary band-aids. A national food strategy would provide a streamlined mechanism for coordination between relevant government agencies and stakeholders, ensuring that policy misalignment does not prevent farmers from receiving financial aid, excess crops are diverted to hungry families in an efficient manner, and assistance programs effectively support a wider range of farmers and better mirror national priorities and other Congressional investments, rather than exacerbating farm consolidation and racial inequities.

Importantly, although the pandemic exposed weaknesses in the agricultural sector, farmers struggled before COVID-19, facing myriad challenges including depressed prices,³⁰⁵ industry consolidation,³⁰⁶ and the trade war with China.³⁰⁷ With the acceleration of global climate change, farmers will continue to struggle after the pandemic is over.³⁰⁸ A durable national food strategy should have the flexibility to address immediate concerns during COVID-19 and future disruptions, as well as provide foresight for long-term policy objectives. USDA food box program falls short of supporting small farms, National Sustainable Agriculture Coalition

NOTABLY, EVEN THOUGH THE PROGRAM WAS INTENDED TO BENEFIT LOCAL AND REGIONAL FARMERS AND PRODUCERS, ACCORDING TO ANALYSIS OF THE FIRST ROUND OF FUNDING, ONLY SEVEN PERCENT OF THE FUNDING ACTUALLY SERVED THESE GROUPS.

V. RECOMMENDATIONS AND CALL TO ACTION

The food system is critical to our economy, public health, environment, and social justice. Many of the challenges facing this system are the result of our fragmented regulatory structure, and long-term positive outcomes are seemingly unachievable due to the inability to coordinate resources, identify food system goals, set priorities, and develop strategic responses that can enable us to meet those goals.

Since 2017, our nation has continued to struggle with the negative impacts of our food system, which have been laid bare by the COVID-19 pandemic. The need for a coordinated framework to structure law and policymaking around the food system has only grown. Government agencies have used memoranda of understanding (MOUs) in an attempt to work within the fragmented regulatory framework. However, the food system's challenges have continued to grow, while an overall lack of coordination has led to limited progress and, most recently, slow and short-sighted COVID-19 food system relief efforts. Canada's *Food Policy for Canada: Everyone at the Table*, released in 2017, and the United Kingdom's *National Food Strategy – Part One*, released in 2020, demonstrate that peer countries increasingly grasp the importance and value in implementing national food strategies as a tool to plan comprehensively and strategically for the future. **The U.S. possesses the tools needed to develop a meaningful national food strategy and is not alone in realizing the fundamental importance of such an endeavor**.

The 2020 election presents an opportunity for the next administration to construct such a framework. Past U.S. administrations have used national strategies to address complex and controversial issues of national concern. As described earlier, the Obama Administration created the National HIV/AIDS

Strategy in 2010 in response to sustained public support for a comprehensive response to the HIV/ AIDS crisis.³⁰⁹ By fostering coordination among government agencies and providing opportunities for input from community members, medical experts, and other key stakeholders through the Advisory Council on HIV/AIDS' collaborative efforts, as well as through public comments and forums attended by advocates, individuals, and affected communities, the Obama Administration created a national strategy that has led the country in the fight against HIV/AIDS for 10 years. Other national strategies have been developed as a result of executive action. In 2013. President Obama established the President's Climate Action Plan through an executive order to reduce overall greenhouse gas emissions and establish the United States as a global leader in responding to climate change.³¹⁰ In 2014, President Obama established a National Strategy for Combating Antibiotic-Resistant Bacteria through an executive order; this strategy improved surveillance and detection and invested in research.³¹¹

NATIONAL HIV/AIDS STRATEGY

The Obama Administration directed the Office of National AIDS Policy ("ONAP") provide centralized, strategic oversight of the National HIV/AIDS Strategy. The Administration created a President's Advisory Council on HIV/ AIDS ("PACHA") to provide advice and recommendations to ONAP and the Department of Health and Human Services. The National Strategy also provided well-utilized opportunities for public dialogue and engagement, monitoring of strategic goals, and updating of the national strategy, thereby increasing accountability and durability.

Similarly, the next administration should create a national food strategy to address the growing crises facing the U.S. food system. Civil society, food and agricultural producers, and food system workers, as well as environmental, labor, and public health advocates, have repeatedly called for a more strategic approach to a vast array of serious problems in the food system.³¹² Pressure for a whole-of-government approach only increased as consumers experienced the pandemic-related effects of our uncoordinated approach to food system governance. The next administration should seize the opportunity to create

a strategic response to food system issues so policymakers can identify key goals and priorities, foster coordination and strategic planning among federal agencies, as well as between federal and state, tribal, and local governments, and solicit input from experts, industry actors, nonprofit organizations, and the general public.

Congress could also seize the opportunity to create a framework for informed, effective, and coordinated law and policymaking for the U.S. food system. In the wake of the September 11, 2001, terrorist attacks, Congress passed the Intelligence Authorization Act, which established the National Commission on Terrorist Attacks Upon the United States, commonly known as the "9/11 Commission," to determine the events and failures that led up to September 11, 2001 and recommend how to prevent similar events in the future.³¹³ Other national strategies have also been created by Congress. In 2006, the National Health Security Strategy was created to mitigate the impact of disasters and emergencies on human health.³¹⁴ In 2010, Congress established the National Quality Strategy through the Affordable Care Act, to raise the standard of national health care.³¹⁵

9/11 COMMISSION

To build public trust, Congress ensured that the 9/11 Commission was bipartisan by mandating that no more than 5 of the 10 Commission members be from the same party and giving the President, the leader of the Senate Democratic Party, and the senior member of each party in each house power to appoint Commission members. The Commission reviewed 2.5 million documents and interviewed 1,200 people, including 160 witnesses, and the final report, released in July 2004, included 41 recommendations. Congress addressed most of these recommendations with the Intelligence Reform and Terrorism Prevention Act of 2004.



The Blueprint discussed the Pandemic and All-Hazards Preparedness Act (PAHPA) as an example of a national strategy enacted by Congress and implemented by the Department of Health and Human Services. The PAHPA has been excluded from this report due to its disappointing impact. Despite the protests of public health experts, Congress appropriated less than 75 percent of the recommended funding levels when the bill was up for reappropriations in 2018. Experts claim that the COVID-19 pandemic was exacerbated by Congress's failure to provide adequate funding for the bill's programs.

In many ways, the current need for a national food strategy parallels the need for a national strategy to address the September 11, 2001 terrorist attacks. Prior to the establishment of the 9/11 Commission, the U.S. collectively experienced a national trauma leading to prolonged public support for thorough, government-led efforts to address events that were multi-faceted and too complicated for a single entity to handle. Similarly, COVID-19 caused massive food supply chain disruption, illness and safety issues for food system workers, and a drastic rise in food insecurity, but the complexity of the food

system and its wide-reaching effects have stymied unilateral solutions. The pandemic's effects on our fragile system add urgency to the need for a coordinated national food strategy. Yet, even if COVID-19 is the impetus for the developing a strategy, it must be comprehensive to address the issues in the long term and create food system resilience in a post-pandemic world.

For example, while the national COVID-19 response was mostly piecemeal and reactive, some state and local governments developed COVID-19 strategies that fostered collaboration with an eye to long-term food system goals that were largely focused on food security. These examples could, in part, serve as models for a national food strategy to address COVID's challenges and provide for long-term coordination and strategic planning.

Even if COVID-19 is the impetus for developing a national food strategy, it must be comprehensive to address the issues in the long term and create food system resilience in a post-pandemic world.



New York City appointed a Food Czar to coordinate citywide agencies working with the private sector to create a two-phased plan to both address immediate COVID-related needs and also to build long-term food system solutions for New York City. The planning effort resulted in the publication of Feeding New York: The Plan for Keeping Our City Fed During the COVID-19 Public Health Crisis. To address the short-term crisis during COVID-19, the city sought to feed food insecure residents and protect the city's food supply chain.³¹⁶ The cross-agency effort identified and categorized six at-risk population groups, and aligned solutions to meet each of their needs while recognizing specific structural disparities.³¹⁷ Accordingly, the city ensured halal, kosher, and vegan meals were available at over four hundred distribution sites,³¹⁸ changed its zoning to allow for food storage, processing, and packaging in a wider range of areas,³¹⁹ and provided free childcare for grocery store employees and other essential workers,³²⁰ among other changes. For longer-term food system resilience, the city announced plans to build a robust, equitable food system for the future,³²¹ grounded in the notion that access to nutritious food is a fundamental human right.³²² In pursuit of this goal, the city also developed regional partnerships organized around building a sustainable food system beyond the pandemic. ³²³



In a similar vein, Massachusetts created a Food Security Task Force comprised of public and private partners.³²⁴ The Task Force outlined 80 recommendations for developing an emergency food supply program, fortifying local food banks, maximizing federal food resources, and bolstering food system infrastructure.³²⁵ In addition to addressing pandemic-related needs, the governor, state legislature, and Task Force sought to develop long-term solutions to address food insecurity and fortify the state's supply chain. The governor responded by allocating \$56 million to implement the Task Force's recommendations.³²⁶ Consistent with that goal, a portion of the \$56 million investment went to incentivizing increased food distribution capacity, expanding access points for federal food assistance, offering innovations for urban farmers, and helping local food system businesses provide better access to local food.³²⁷

While many states and localities took steps to address the needs of their populations during the crisis, responses were mostly reactive to the immediate crisis. New York City and Massachusetts stand apart as they demonstrate responses to the COVID-19 food system crisis in a collaborative and prescient manner by using the moment to build toward longer-term and more strategic food system goals, yet further illustrate the need for comprehensive and coordinated leadership at the national level.

KEY ELEMENTS OF A NATIONAL FOOD STRATEGY

While much of the conversation around a national food strategy will focus on the substance of such a strategy (the specific policy goals and priorities themselves), **the strategic process is equally important and a needed first step.** Without a thoughtfully designed process that enables broad representation and participation, the national food strategy may suffer from some of the same issues we currently face. The recommendations for the structure and process of a government-created national food strategy have remained largely the same as those included in the *Blueprint*. However, given the developments over the past three years, as well as the COVID-19 pandemic, the present report updates some of these recommendations to draw more attention to key elements needed for success.

A well-designed process that encompasses the principles below can ensure that a comprehensive national food strategy is developed with buy-in from key voices and stakeholders, and builds a roadmap to advance a more economically resilient, healthful, sustainable, and equitable food system:



LEADERSHIP AND COORDINATION:

Because so many federal agencies play a role in governing our food system, interagency coordination is essential to achieving national food and agricultural goals and priorities. The lack of a comprehensive COVID-19 response and ongoing food system challenges underscore the need for effective coordination among federal, state, local, and tribal government agencies. First, to centralize the process and foster the ability for action, a national food strategy should **identify a lead office or agency to draft and implement the strategy.** The lead office should have the resources and ability to convene stakeholders, gather information through outreach and consultation, and compel other agencies to engage in the process. The strategy should also **engage an interagency working group across all relevant federal agencies coordinate agencies, communicate with stakeholders, and oversee the implementation of the strategy.** State, local, and tribal governments should be engaged as key partners.

LEADERSHIP

Without strong, committed, and empowered leadership, no strategy or plan can be successful. For this reason, we have added the word "leadership" to the first guiding principle recommended by the 2017 *Blueprint*. This change reflects the growing understanding that effective leadership is as important as agency coordination to a national strategy's success. One takeaway from the COVID-19 response in the food system and beyond was that **leadership was a vital element of effective response**. This was true in terms of federal responses that were most helpful and in terms of outcomes in states and localities that took control of the situation. In the food context, appointing a "food czar," as New York City did, or a Food Security Task Force, as Massachusetts did, created the leadership needed to make an impact on all aspects of the food system. Creating a strong national food strategy will require identifying a particular individual leader or leadership board that can provide effective and decisive oversight to the process.

PARTICIPATION:

State and local governments and diverse stakeholders offer perspectives and resources essential to federal food policy reform. Farmers, food system workers, retailers, academics, consumer groups, and individuals dealing with food insecurity interact with the food system on a more intimate level than most policymakers. Broad stakeholder and public participation are critical for a successful national strategy. A federal advisory council made up of external experts can meaningfully provide vital input as well as engage a broad range of stakeholders, including state, local, and tribal governments, as well as the public health, agricultural, and environmental sectors. In addition to a high-level advisory council, the national strategy process should create meaningful opportunities for broad-based public input, such as opportunities to attend community meetings and listening sessions, offer input on drafts and submit public comments, develop spaces for stakeholders to identify common ground, and provide funding for stakeholders to gather input in a manner they deem appropriate. Input from stakeholders and the public should be sought throughout the process, and federal agencies creating the strategy should both acknowledge and respond meaningfully to the input to affirm the value of the public's engagement and encourage ongoing participation.

TRANSPARENCY, ACCOUNTABILITY, AND ENFORCEABILITY:

The public increasingly desires greater transparency about food. This includes where it comes from, what it contains, and how it is made. This desire for transparency extends to the system that supports our food—for example, how the Dietary Guidelines for Americans are developed or which crops receive what amount of federal subsidy dollars. Transparency in the food system builds trust and allows U.S. residents to hold government agencies accountable. To ensure transparency and accountability in its food system planning, the national food strategy process should include publication of a written strategy plan that details the strategy's priorities, goals, expected outcomes, implementation measures, and concrete metrics for measuring progress toward achieving long-term food system goals. Public-facing progress reports should be published annually to keep the public informed about progress toward implementation, and to enable the public to hold government agencies accountable to the goals set in the strategy. Separately, Congress could enact a procedural mechanism to guide the development of prospective policies that may impact the food system. Such a mechanism could require assessment of new policies or agency actions for their impact on food system priorities, similar to the National Environmental Policy Act's (NEPA) requirement that federal agencies assess the environmental impacts of their actions. This could provide an enforceable mandate to federal agencies requiring them to consider impacts to the food system.

ENFORCEABILITY

Without proper enforcement mechanisms, a national strategy risks becoming little more than toothless symbolism. For this reason, we updated the principles included in the 2017 *Blueprint* to include enforceability. Even durable, well-coordinated strategies can be rendered less effective due to a lack of enforcement authority. The Interagency Working Group on Environmental Justice, profiled in detail in the *Blueprint*, featured cross-agency coordination, but lacked power to issue enforceable regulations or compel its member agencies to do so.³²⁸ Consequently, the IWG was highly dependent on executive power, leaving it subject to the political positions of the President. A national food strategy should avoid this potential shortcoming by ensuring that it offers the lead office or agency the power to compel action by agencies that are participating in the strategy, that it pushes for agencies to hold governmental agencies accountable to the goals set out in the strategy.

Moreover, robust procedural mechanisms can ensure that agencies are adhering to the goals of the strategy. Congress, concerned about the environmental impact of agency actions, implemented such a safeguard with the passage of the National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA).³²⁹ While this law does not compel agencies to make changes to any specific regulations, the requirement to create environmental assessments and in some cases environmental impact statements is mandatory and can be compelled by a court. Further, the mere requirement that agencies assess the environmental impact of their proposals has been shown to influence agency decision-making.³³⁰ Inclusion of a similar procedural mechanism can ensure that all agencies remain focused on the goals of the national food strategy while exercising their independent authority, and that private actors can hold them accountable.



DURABILITY:

The goal of a national food strategy is to provide a sustainable framework for a healthy, economically viable, equitable, and resilient food system for today and the future. A national food strategy must maintain focus on long-term priorities and include mechanisms to withstand changes in the presidential administration or Congress. At the same time, a national strategy must be able to adapt to changing social, economic, scientific, and technological factors, as well as to adapt to unmet goals and priorities. A durable national food strategy will require periodic revisions and updates that reflect social, economic, scientific, and technological innovations and changing realities.

As Americans reckon with COVID-19 and its aftermath, the nation must also confront the inequalities and externalized costs rampant in our food and agricultural system, as well as the system's critical economic, health, environmental, and social impacts. A strategy guided by the principles above will ensure these critical issues are addressed. As recognized by other countries and dramatically illustrated by the COVID-19 pandemic, this moment represents a significant societal crossroads and the U.S. has the opportunity to rebuild strategically and thoughtfully. We can no longer afford to address these issues inefficiently and incrementally but must act to address the significant threats facing our economic, environmental, and social sustainability.



ENDNOTES

- 1 This report uses the term "food system" to refer to both food and agriculture. "Food system" is defined in this report to mean "all of the processes involved in getting food from the farm to table to disposal, including production, processing, distributing, preparing, marketing, accessing, consuming and disposing." Roni A. Neff et al., Food Systems and Public Health Disparities, 4 J. Hunger & Envtl. Nutrition 282, 283 (2009), https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/ PMC3489131/.
- 2 Vt. L. Sch. Ctr. for Agric. & Food Sys. & Harv. Food L. & Pol'y Clinic Blueprint for a National Food Strategy (2017), http://www.chlpi.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/12/National-Food-Strategy-Blueprint_March-2017.pdf.
- 3 Id.
- 4 Ag and Food Sectors and the Economy, U.S. Dep't of Agric., Econ. Res. Serv. (May 04, 2020), https://www.ers.usda.gov/ data-products/ag-and-food-statistics-charting-the-essentials/ ag-and-food-sectors-and-the-economy/.
- 5 Id.
- 6 The U.S. Burden of Disease Collaborators, The State of U.S. Health, 1990-2016: Burden of Diseases, Injuries, and Risk Factors Among US States, 14 JAMA 1444 (2018), https://jamanetwork.com/journals/jama/fullarticle/2678018.
- 7 Id.
- 8 CTRS. FOR DISEASE CONTROL & PREVENTION, NAT'L DIABETICS STAT. REP. 2020: ESTIMATES OF DIABETES AND ITS BURDEN IN THE UNITED STATES 8 (2020) https://www.cdc.gov/diabetes/pdfs/data/statistics/national-diabetes-statistics-report.pdf.
- 9 Ctrs. For Disease Control & Prevention Div. of Diabetes Translation, Long-Term Trends in Diabetes 2 (2017), https://www. cdc.gov/diabetes/statistics/slides/long_term_trends.pdf.
- 10 Ctrs. for Disease Control & Prevention, The Power of Prevention: Chronic Disease...the public health challenge of the 21st century 1 (2009), https://www.cdc.gov/chronicdisease/pdf/2009-power-of-prevention.pdf
- 11 Ruth Peterson, Liping Pan & Heidi Blanck, Racial and Ethnic Disparities in Adult Obesity in the United States: CDC's Tracking to Inform State and Local Action, 16 Preventing Chronic Disease 1 (2019), https://www.cdc.gov/pcd/issues/2019/18_0579.htm#2.
- 12 Id.
- 13 Id.
- 14 Michael J. Butler & Ruth M. Barrientos, The impact of nutrition on COVID-19 susceptibility and long-term consequences, 87 Elsevler Pub. Health Emergency Collection 53 (2020), https:// www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC7165103/; Angela Betsaida B. Laguipo, Obesity ups COVID-19 death risk by 48 percent, NEWS (Aug. 26, 2020), https://www.news-medical. net/news/20200826/Obesity-ups-COVID-19-death-risk-by-48-percent.aspx.
- 15 INST. OF MED. & NAT'L RSCH. COUNCIL, A FRAMEWORK FOR ASSESS-ING EFFECTS OF THE FOOD SYSTEM 130—131 (Malden C. Nesheim, Maria Oria, & Peggy Tsai Yih eds., 2015), https://www.nap.edu/ read/18846/chapter/1.
- 16 U.S. Dep't of Agric., Econ. Res. Serv., How Important is Irrigation to U.S. Agriculture? (Sept. 23, 2019), https://www.ers. usda.gov/topics/farm-practices-management/irrigation-water-use/background/.

- 17 Envt'l Protec. Agency, Protecting Water Quality from Agricultural Runoff (2005), https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/ files/2015-09/documents/ag_runoff_fact_sheet.pdf.
- 18 See Dana Gunders, Natural Res. Def. Council, Wasted: How America is Losing up to 40% of its Food from Farm to Fork to Landfill (2012), https://www.nrdc.org/sites/default/files/wasted-food-IP.pdf.
- 19 U.S. Dep't of Agric, Why Should We Care About Food Waste?, https://www.usda.gov/foodlossandwaste/why (last visited Jul. 4, 2020).
- 20 Henk Westhoek et al., United Nations Env't Programme, Food Systems and Natural Resources 21 (2016), https://www.resourcepanel.org/reports/food-systems-and-natural-resources.
- 21 U.S. Dep't of Agric., Econ. Res. Serv., Food Insecurity in the U.S. (Sept. 09, 2020), https://www.ers.usda.gov/topics/food-nutrition-assistance/food-security-in-the-us/key-statis-tics-graphics.aspx.
- 22 Nicole Fisher, Number of Food Insecure Households More than Doubles as Food Banks Struggle, Forbes, May 26, 2020, https://www.forbes.com/sites/nicolefisher/2020/05/26/ number-of-food-insecure-households-more-than-doubles-asfood-banks-struggle/#54f054310b5f.
- 23 Food Res. & Action Ctr., Not Enough to Eat: Covid-19 Deepens America's Hunger Crisis (2020), https://frac.org/wp-content/ uploads/Not-Enough-to-Eat_Hunger-and-COVID.pdf.
- 24 Id.
- 25 Food Res. & Action Ctr., Not Enough to Eat: Covid-19 Deepens America's Hunger Crisis (2020), https://frac.org/wp-content/ uploads/Not-Enough-to-Eat_Hunger-and-COVID.pdf.
- 26 U.S. Dep't of Agric., Econ. Res. Serv., Ag and Food Sectors and the Economy (2020), https://www.ers.usda.gov/ data-products/ag-and-food-statistics-charting-the-essentials/ag-and-food-sectors-and-the-economy/#:-:text=Agriculture%2C%20food%2C%20and%20related%20industries,about%201%20percent%20of%20GDP.
- 27 James MacDonald & Robert Hoppe, Examining Consolidation in U.S. Agriculture, U.S. Dep't of Agric., Econ. Research Serv. (Mar. 14, 2018), https://www.ers.usda.gov/amber-waves/2018/ march/examining-consolidation-in-us-agriculture/. Gross farm cash income includes the combined total of commodity sales, contract fees, government payments, and farm-related income.
- 28 U.S. Dep't of Agric., Econ. Research Serv., America's Diverse Family Farms 4 (2018), https://www.ers.usda.gov/webdocs/ publications/90985/eib-203.pdf?v=6080.
- 29 2020 Farm Sector Income Forecast, Econ. Res. Serv., U.S. Dep't of Agric. (Sept. 02, 2020); Highlights from the September 2020 Farm Income Forecast, Econ. Res. Serv., U.S. Dep't of Agric. (Sept. 02, 2020), https://www.ers.usda.gov/topics/ farm-economy/farm-sector-income-finances/highlights-fromthe-farm-income-forecast/.
- 30 U.S. Dep't of Agric., Nat'l Agric. Stats. Serv., 2017 Census of Agriculture Race/Ethnicity/ Gender Profile 9 (2017), https:// www.nass.usda.gov/Publications/AgCensus/2017/Online_Resources/Race,_Ethnicity_and_Gender_Profiles/cpd99000. pdf.
- 31 Id.
- 32 Id.

- 33 Ctr. for Social Inclusion, Regaining Ground, Cultivating Community Assets & Preserving Black Land (2011), https://www. centerforsocialinclusion.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/07/ Regaining-Ground-Cultivating-Community-Assets-and-Preserving-Black-Land.pdf; Nathan Rosenberg, Bryce W. Stucki, How USDA distorted data to conceal decades of discrimination against black farmers, The Counter (June 6, 2019, 7:00 am), https://thecounter.org/usda-black-farmers-discrimination-tom-vilsack-reparations-civil-rights/; Stephen Carpenter, The USDA Discrimination Cases: Pigford, in Re Black Farmers, Keepseagle, Garcia, and Love, 17 Drake J. Agric. L. 1 (2012); Kristol Bradley Ginapp, Jim "USDA" Crow: Symptomatic Discrimination in Agriculture, 8 Drake J. Agric. L. 237 (2003).
- 34 See e.g., Labor and Workers in the Food System, FoodPrint, https://foodprint.org/issues/labor-workers-in-the-food-system/#easy-footnote-bottom-1-1302.
- 35 S. Poverty L. Ctr., Injustice On Our Plates (2010), https://www. splcenter.org/20101107/injustice-our-plates.
- 36 Agricultural Operations: Overview, U.S. Dept. of Labor, Occupational Safety and Health Admin., https://www.osha.gov/ dsg/topics/agriculturaloperations/.
- 37 Rural Migrant Health, Rural Health Info. Hub, U.S. Dep't of Health & Hum. Serv (May 4, 2018), https://www.ruralhealthinfo.org/topics/migrant-health#:~:text=%20What%20are%20 some%20of%20the%20common%20health,result%20 from%20the%20use%20of%20both...%20More%20.
- 38 Immigration and Labor, Farmworker Just., https://www.farmworkerjustice.org/advocacy_program/immigration-and-labor/; The Migrant/Seasonal Farmworker, Migrant Clinicians Network, https://www.migrantclinician.org/issues/migrant-info/migrant.html.
- 39 Nat'l Ctr. for Farmworker Health, Farmworker Health Factsheet 2 (2012), http://www.ncfh.org/naws-fact-sheet.html.
- 40 Migrant workers contribute an estimated \$1.5 billion to the Medicare system, \$7 billion to the Social Security system, and \$2.6 trillion to the U.S. economy over a decade. S. Poverty L. Ctr., supra note 35.
- 41 Leah Douglas, Covid-19 Shows No Sign of Slowing Among Food-System Workers, Food & Env't Reporting Network (June 22, 2020), https://thefern.org/2020/06/covid-19shows-no-sign-of-slowing-among-food-system-workers/; Gary Nabhan, Op-ed: Migrant Farmworkers, Native Ranchers in Border States Hit Hardest by COVID-19, Civil Eats (May 22, 2020), https://civileats.com/2020/05/22/op-ed-migrantfarmworkers-native-ranchers-in-border-states-hit-hardest-by-covid-19/; Daniel Costa & Philip Martin, Coronavirus and farmworkers Farm employment, safety issues, and the H-2A guestworker program, Econ. Pol'y Inst. (Mar 24, 2020), https://www.epi.org/publication/coronavirus-and-farmworkers-h-2a/.
- 42 Leah Douglas, Mapping Covid-19 outbreaks in the food system, Food & Env't Reporting Network (Sept. 17, 2020) https:// thefern.org/2020/04/mapping-covid-19-in-meat-and-foodprocessing-plants/.
- 43 See e.g., Sarah Kliff, Most Coronavirus Tests Cost About \$100. Why Did one Cost \$2,315?, N.Y. Times (June 16, 2020), https://www.nytimes.com/2020/06/16/upshot/coronavirus-test-cost-varies-widely.html.
- 44 Leah Douglas, As more meatpacking workers fall ill from Covid-19, meat companies decline to disclose data, Food & Env't Reporting Network (May 14, 2020), https://thefern.org/ ag_insider/as-more-meatpacking-workers-fall-ill-from-covid-19-meat-companies-decline-to-disclose-data/.
- 45 U.S. Gov't Accountability Office., GAO-15-290, High Risk Series: An Update 262 (Feb. 2015), https://www.gao.gov/assets/670/668415.pdf. For example, the regulation of peppero-

ni pizza is frequently cited as an example of inefficacy in food safety oversight. Under current law, the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) regulates cheese pizza and its ingredients. However, if more than 50 percent of the pizza has pepperoni or other meat, the USDA Food Safety and Inspection Service (FSIS) regulates the meat ingredients. Daniela Galarza, USDA vs. FDA: What's the Difference? Eater (Mar. 24, 2017), https://www.eater.com/2017/3/24/15041686/fda-usda-difference-regulation.

- 46 See generally U.S. House of Representatives, Committees, https://www.house.gov/committees.
- 47 Laurie J. Beyranevand & Emily M. Broad Leib, Making the Case for a National Food Strategy in the United States, 72 Food & Drug L. J. 225 (2017).
- 48 Vt L. Sch. Ctr. for Agric. and Food Sys. & Harvard Food L. and Pol'y Clinic, supra note 2, at 26.
- 49 Joana Araújo, Jianwen Cai, & June Stevens, Prevalence of Optimal Metabolic Health in American Adults: National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey 2009–2016, 17 Metabolic Syndrome & Related Disorders 46 (2018), https://www.liebertpub.com/doi/10.1089/met.2018.0105.
- 50 Adult Obesity Facts, Ctrs. for Disease Control & Prevention, https://www.cdc.gov/obesity/data/adult.html.
- 51 Childhood Obesity Facts, Ctrs. for Disease Control & Prevention, https://www.cdc.gov/obesity/data/childhood.html.
- 52 U.S. Dep't of Health & Hum. Servs., Dietary Guidelines for Americans 2015-2020 17 (2015), http://health.gov/dietaryguidelines/2015/resources/2015-2020_Dietary_Guidelines.pdf.
- 53 See generally, Cong. Res. Serv., R45525, The 2018 Farm Bill (P.L. 115-334): Summary and Side-by-Side Comparison 15 (2019), https://crsreports.congress.gov/product/pdf/R/ R45525.
- 54 Tom Capehart & Susan Proper, Corn is America's Largest Crop in 2019, U.S. Dep't of Agric. (Aug. 1, 2019), https:// www.usda.gov/media/blog/2019/07/29/corn-americas-largest-crop-2019.
- 55 U.S. Dep't of Health & Hum. Servs., supra note 52, at 17.
- 56 Vt. L. Sch. Ctr. for Agric. & Food Sys. & Harv. Food L. & Pol'y Clinic, supra note 2, at 23.
- 57 Id.
- 58 Nancy Milio, Promoting Health Through Structural Change: Analysis of the Origins and Implementation of Norway's Farm-Food-Nutrition Policy, 15A Soc. Sci. Med. 721, 727 (1981).
- 59 Id. at 728.

- 61 Id.
- 62 Cabinet Off., Strategy Unit, U.K., Food Matters: Towards a Strategy for the 21st Century iii (2008) (U.K.) [hereinafter Food Matters], https://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/+/ http:/www.cabinetoffice.gov.uk/media/cabinetoffice/strategy/ assets/food/food_matters_es.pdf.
- 63 Dep't for Env't, Food, & Rural Affairs, HM Gov't, Food 2030 (2010) (U.K.) [hereinafter Food 2030], http://www.appg-agscience.org.uk/linkedfiles/Defra%20food2030strategy.pdf.
- 64 Vt L. Sch. Ctr. for Agric. and Food Sys. & Harvard Food L. and Pol'y Clinic, supra note 2, at 28–32.
- 65 Id. at 32.
- 66 Id.
- 67 Id. at 23.
- 68 Id.

⁶⁰ Id.

69 Id.

- 70 Id. at 38.
- 71 Id. at 39.
- 72 Tasleem J. Padamsee, Fight an Epidemic in Political Context: Thirty Five Years of HIV/AIDS Policy Making in the United States, 33 Soc. Hist. of Med. 1001 (2020), https://academic. oup.com/shm/article/33/3/1001/5265310.
- 73 Chris Collins, Open Soc'y Inst. Public Health Program, Blueprint for a National AIDS Plan for the United States (2007), https://www.opensocietyfoundations.org/sites/default/files/ improving_20070501.pdf.
- Hannah Clay Wareham, New National HIV/AIDS Strategy an Example of Homegrown Activism, Edge Media Network, (Jul. 22, 2010), https://boston.edgemedianetwork.com/story.php?c h=news&sc=&sc2=&id=108311.

75 Id.

- 76 White House, Office of Nat'l AIDS Policy, National HIV/AIDS Strategy for the United States (2010), https://obamawhitehouse.archives.gov/sites/default/files/uploads/NHAS.pdf.
- 77 Presidential Advisory Council on HIV/AIDS, What Is PACHA?, AIDS.gov, https://www.hiv.gov/federal-response/pacha/ about-pacha.
- 78 White House, Office of Nat'l AIDS Policy, supra note 76.
- 79 Ronald Vadiserri, ONAP Concludes Series of Forums on Updating National HIV/AIDS Strategy, White House Office of Nat'l AIDS Pol'y (May 14, 2015), https://obamawhitehouse. archives.gov/blog/2015/05/14/onap-concludes-series-community-forums-updating-national-hivaids-strategy.
- 80 White House Office of Nat'l AIDS Policy, National HIV/AIDS Strategy for the United States: Updated to 2020 (2015), https://files.hiv.gov/s3fs-public/nhas-update.pdf.
- 81 Vt L. Sch. Ctr. for Agric. and Food Sys. & Harvard Food L. and Pol'y Clinic, supra note 2, at 41.
- 82 Id.
- 83 Id.
- 84 Id. at 46-51.
- 85 Meat & Poultry Dialogue Grp., Recommendations to Modernize the Meat and Poultry Oversight System in the United States (2017), https://s31207.pcdn.co/wp-content/uploads/2019/07/Meat-and-Poultry_Recommendations.pdf.
- 86 Id. at 12, 40.
- 87 Id. at 12.
- 88 Jerold Mande and Walter Willett et al., Report of the 50th Anniversary of the White House Conference on Food, Nutrition, and Health: Honoring the Past, Taking Actions for our Future 24 (2020), https://sites.tufts.edu/foodnutritionandhealth2019/.
- 89 Nicholas Freudenberg & Marion Nestle, A Call for a National Agenda for a Healthy, Equitable, and Sustainable Food System, 110 Am. J. Pub. Health 1671 (2020), https://doi. org/10.2105/AJPH.2020.305926.
- 90 Sheila E Fleischhacker et al., Strengthening national nutrition research: rationale and options for a new coordinated federal research effort and authority, 112 Am. J. of Clinical Nutrition 721 (2020), https://doi.org/10.1093/ajcn/nqaa179.
- 91 The Rockefeller Foundation, Reset the Table Meeting the Moment to Transform the U.S. Food System 8 (2020), https://www.rockefellerfoundation.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/07/RF-FoodPolicyPaper_Final2.pdf.

- 92 IPES-Food, Towards a Common Food Policy for the European Union: The Policy Reform and Realignment That is Required to Build Sustainable Food Systems in Europe 11 (2019), http:// www.ipes-food.org/_img/upload/files/CFP_FullReport.pdf.
- 93 Id. Additionally, the process involved a "collaborative work stage," which engaged 30 organizations to collectively create a set of policy proposals that were then discussed and amended based on input gathered at the EU Food and Farming Forum. Id. at 12.
- 94 U.S. Gov't Accountability Office, GAO-19-157SP, High Risk Series: Substantial Efforts Needed to Achieve Greater Progress on High-Risk Areas 195 (2019), https://www.gao.gov/ assets/700/697245.pdf.
- 95 U.S. Gov't Accountability Office, GAO-17-74, Food Safety: A National Strategy Is Needed to Address Fragmentation in Federal Oversight (2017), https://www.gao.gov/assets/690/682095.pdf.
- 96 Press Release, Rep. Tim Ryan, Reps. Tim Ryan and Rosa De-Lauro Request GAO Report on Food Policy and Public Health (June 08, 2018), https://timryan.house.gov/media/press-releases/reps-tim-ryan-and-rosa-delauro-request-gao-reportfood-policy-and-public-health.
- 97 Press Release, U.S. Food & Drug Admin., FDA, USDA Announce Formal Agreement to Bolster Coordination and Collaboration (Jan. 30, 2018), https://www.fda.gov/news-events/ press-announcements/fda-usda-announce-formal-agreement-bolster-coordination-and-collaboration.
- 98 Press Release, U.S. Dep't of Agric., USDA and FDA Announce Key Step to Advance Collaborative Efforts to Streamline Produce Safety Requirements for Farmers (June 5, 2018), https://www.usda.gov/media/press-releases/2018/06/05/usda-and-fda-announce-key-step-advance-collaborative-efforts.
- 99 Id.
- 100 U.S. Food & Drug Admin., Formal Agreement Between FDA and USDA Regarding Oversight of Human Food Produced Using Animal Cell Technology Derived from Cell Lines of USDA-amenable Species (2019), https://www.fda.gov/food/ domestic-interagency-agreements-food/formal-agreementbetween-fda-and-usda-regarding-oversight-human-food-produced-using-animal-cell.
- 101 21 U.S.C. §§ 601-13, 615-2, 641-45, 661, 671-679(a), 680, 683 (2018).
- 102 21 U.S.C. §§ 451-67, 467(a)-67(f), 468-72 (2018).
- 103 9 C.F.R. § 300.3(a) (2016).
- 104 See Daniela Galarza, USDA vs. FDA: What's the Difference?, Eater (Mar. 24, 2017), https://www.eater. com/2017/3/24/15041686/fda-usda-difference-regulation.
- 105 U.S. Food & Drug Admin., supra note 100. Note that cultured seafood products and game products are solely regulated by Foods Made with Cultured Animal Cells, U.S. Food & Drug Admin (Oct. 06, 2020), https://www.fda.gov/food/food-ingredients-packaging/foods-made-cultured-animal-cells#:~:tex-t=Therefore%2C%20food%20products%20for%20human,regulated%20solely%20by%20the%20FDA.
- 106 U.S. Envtl. Prot. Agency, U.S. Food & Drug Admin., & U.S. Dep't of Agric., MOU 225-19-033, Memorandum of Understanding Formal Among the United States Food and Drug Administration, the United States Environmental Protection Agency, the United States Department of Agriculture, and the founding partners of the Food Waste Reduction Alliance (2019), https://www.fda.gov/about-fda/domestic-mous/mou-225-19-033.
- 107 U.S. Envtl. Prot. Agency, EPA 530-F-19-004, Winning on Reducing Food Waste FY 2019-2020 Federal Interagency Strategy (2019), https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/

files/2019-05/documents/reducingfoodwaste_strategy.pdf. The areas of focus enumerated in that strategy are: enhanced interagency coordination; increased consumer education and outreach efforts; improved coordination and guidance on food loss and waste measurement; enhanced clarity and communication on food safety, date labels, and food donations; improved collaboration with private industry to reduce food loss and waste across the supply chain; and increased encouragement of federal agencies to reduce food waste in their facilities. Id.

- 108 Id.
- 109 See e.g., Laura Reiley, Migrant Farmworkers, Many Coronavirus Positive, Move North from Florida to Other States, Wash. Post (June 11, 2020), https://www.washingtonpost.com/business/2020/06/11/migrant-farmworkers-many-who-have-tested-positive-covid-19-move-north-florida-other-farm-states/.
- 110 See e.g., Lydia Mulvany, Jen Skerritt, Polly Mosendz, & James Attwood, Scared and Sick, U.S. Meat Workers Crowd Into Reopened Plants, Bloomberg News (May 21, 2020), https:// www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2020-05-21/scared-andsick-u-s-meat-workers-crowd-into-reopened-plants.
- 111 Exec. Order No. 13917, 85 Fed. Reg. 26313 (Apr. 28, 2020).
- 112 U.S. Food & Drug Admin. & U.S. Dep't of Agric., MOU 225-20-011, Memorandum of Understanding Between FDA and USDA Regarding the Potential Use of the Defense Production Act with Regard to FDA-Regulated Food During the COVID-19 Pandemic (2020), https://www.fda.gov/about-fda/domestic-mous/mou-225-20-011.
- 113 The White House, The Federal Food Safety Working Group Progress Report (2011) https://obamawhitehouse.archives. gov/sites/default/files/fswg_report_final.pdf
- 114 The White House, National Biodefense Strategy 1 (2018), https://www.whitehouse.gov/wp-content/uploads/2018/09/ National-Biodefense-Strategy.pdf.
- 115 Id. at 4.
- 116 The White House, National Strategy to Secure 5G of the United States of America 6 (2020), https://www.whitehouse.gov/ wp-content/uploads/2020/03/National-Strategy-5G-Final. pdf.
- 117 The White House, National Intelligence Strategy of the United States of America 26 (2019), https://www.dni.gov/files/ODNI/ documents/National_Intelligence_Strategy_2019.pdf.
- 118 Brexit: The UK has officially left the EU what happens next?, BBC News (Jan. 31, 2020), https://www.bbc.com/news/ world-europe-51307874.
- 119 Food 2030, supra note 63; Tim Lang, Erik Millstone & Terry Marsden, A Food Brexit: time to get real, A Brexit Briefing 25 (2017), https://www.arc2020.eu/wp-content/ uploads/2017/07/FoodBrexitReport_LangMillstoneMarsden_ July2017.pdf.pdf.
- 120 Food 2030, supra note 63, at 5.
- 121 Tim Lang & Victoria Shoen, Food, the UK and the EU: Brexit or Bremain?, Food Res. Collaboration (2016), http://foodresearch.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/03/ Food-and-Brexit-briefing-paper-2.pdf; Lang, Millstone & Marsden, supra note 119.
- 122 Lang & Shoen, supra note 121.
- 123 Dep't for Env't Food & Rural Affairs, National Food Strategy: Call for Evidence (2019) (U.K.), https://consult.defra. gov.uk/agri-food-chain-directorate/national-food-strategy-call-for-evidence/.
- 124 Id.
- 125 Terms of Reference, Nat'l Food Strategy (U.K.), https://www.

nationalfoodstrategy.org/terms-of-reference-2020/.

- 126 Bob Doherty et al., Citizen participation in food systems policy making: A case study of a citizens' assembly, 2 Emerald Open Res. 22 (2020), https://emeraldopenresearch.com/articles/2-22/v1.
- 127 Id.
- 128 National Food Strategy Advisory Panel Announced, Nat'l Food Strategy (Nov. 5, 2019) (U.K.), https://www.nationalfoodstrategy.org/national-food-strategy-advisory-panel-announced/.
- 129 Nat'l Food Strategy, National Food Strategy: Part One (2020) (U.K.), https://www.nationalfoodstrategy.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/07/NFS-Part-One-SP-CP.pdf.
- 130 See National Food Strategy, Our Approach and Principle (2019) (U.K.), https://www.nationalfoodstrategy.org/approach-2020/.
- 131 National Food Strategy: Part One, supra note 129, at 7.
- 132 Id. at 9-10.
- 133 Id.
- 134 Id.
- 135 Id., at 13.
- 136 Our Approach and Principle, supra note 130.
- 137 Int'l Trade & Inv. Directrorate, Good Food Nation Proposals for Legislation: Analysis of Consultation Responses (2019) (Scot.), https://www.gov.scot/publications/good-food-nation-proposals-legislation-consultation-analysis-report/
- 138 Id.
- 139 Id.
- 140 Id.
- 141 Agric. & Rural Delivery Directorate, Good Food Nation Policy, Cabinet Secretary for Rural Econ. & Tourism, (2020) (Scot.), https://www.gov.scot/policies/food-and-drink/good-foodnation/ (Due to the urgency of parliamentary COVID-19 response, the Good Food Nation Bill will not be introduced this term.)
- 142 CÂMARA INTERMINISTERIAL DE SEGURANÇA ALINENTAR E NUTRI-CIONAL—CAISAN, PLANO NACIONAL DE SEGURANÇA ALINENTAR E NUTRICIONAL [INTERMINISTERIAL CHAMBER OF FOOD & NUTRITIONAL SECURITY—CAISAN, NATIONAL PLAN FOR FOOD AND NUTRITIONAL SECURITY], (2017) (Braz.), https://www.cfn.org.br/wp-content/ uploads/2017/05/PLANO-NACIONAL.pdf.
- 143 Let's Defend Brazil's Food Security, Slow Food (Jan. 24, 2019), https://www.slowfood.com/lets-defend-brazils-food-security/; Leandro Melito, Bolsonaro promove desmonte das políticas de combate à fome [Bolsonaro Promotes Dismantling of Policies to Fight Hunger] (Feb. 4, 2020) (Braz.), https://www.brasildefato.com.br/2020/02/04/ bolsonaro-promove-desmonte-das-politicas-de-seguranca-alimentar.
- 144 SLOW FOOD, supra note 143; Leandro Melito, supra note 142.
- 145 Id.
- 146 Agric. & Agri-Food Canada, 2020-21 Departmental Plan (2020) (Can.), https://www.agr.gc.ca/resources/prod/doc/ pdf/dp-pm_2020-21-eng.pdf.; Agric. & Agri-Food Canada, Food Policy for Canada (2019) (Can.), https://www.canada.ca/ content/dam/aafc-aac/documents/20190614-en.pdf.
- 147 See House of Commons, Investing in the Middle Class: Budget 2019 161-63 (2019) (Can.), https://budget.gc.ca/2019/docs/ plan/budget-2019-en.pdf. Specifically, the Canadian government has allocated \$50 million to the Local Food Infrastructure Fund, which is divided into two "streams"- the Infrastructure and Equipment Improvement Projects and Projects

to Strengthen Local Food Systems. The first directs funds to local entities to improve infrastructure and enable equipment purchases that provide better access to local, healthy and nutritious food. The second funds "groups of community, private, academic and other organizations" whose collective goal is to lessen food insecurity through sustainable methods by creating or bolstering local food systems. Stream one is currently in its application phase; stream two was scheduled to roll out in early 2020, but has not yet moved forward. Agric. & Agri-Food Canada, Local Food Infrastructure Fund: Infrastructure and Equipment Improvement Projects Applicant Guide (2019) (Can.), https://epe.lac-bac.gc.ca/100/201/301/ weekly_acquisitions_list-ef/2019/19-34/publications.gc.ca/ collections/collection_2019/aac-aafc/A118-54-2019-eng. pdf. \$15 million has been allocated to the Northern Isolated Community Initiatives Fund to strengthen its arctic communities food security, and will be spent on locally led projects like "greenhouses, community freezers, and skills training," as well as generally addressing challenges northerners face to healthy food access. Id. at 6. Funding will be delivered by the Northern Economic Development Agency. See Ministerial transition binder, Canadian Northern Econ. Dev. Agency (Mar. 18, 2020) (Can.), https://www.cannor.gc.ca/eng/15803 28887358/1580328902237. \$25 million was allocated to the Buy Canadian Promotion Campaign, which was designed to raise the profile of the country's agricultural food brand and the Canadian Food Inspection Agency, in addition to expanding the use of "Product of Canada" stickers. Amanda Connolly, Ottawa getting ready to launch multimillion-dollar 'Buy Canadian' food campaign, Global News (Jan. 20, 2020), https://globalnews.ca/news/6435463/buy-canadian-promotional-campaign/. \$26 million was allocated to Reducing Food Waste, 6.3 million dollars of which was set aside for the government's self-analysis, with the remaining 20 million awarded based on proposals that effectuate waste reduction in the aforementioned sectors. This portion of the plan was scheduled to roll out in early 2020, but action is yet to be taken. See House of Commons, supra note 147, at 161-63. Finally, \$24 million was allocated to Tackling Food Fraud. The Launch of the First 'Food Policy for Canada - Everyone at the Table', Food Secure Canada (June 17, 2019), https://foodsecurecanada.org/first-national-food-policy-for-canada.

- 148 House of Commons, supra note 147, at 101.
- 149 Food Policy for Canada, supra note 146, at 3.
- 150 Id.
- 151 Agric. & Agri-Food Canada, What We Heard: Consultations on a Food Policy for Canada 5 (2018) (Can.), https://www.canada.ca/content/dam/aafc-aac/documents/20181025-en.pdf.; The Launch of the First 'Food Policy for Canada – Everyone at the Table', supra note 147.
- 152 What We Heard: Consultations on a Food Policy for Canada, supra note 151, at 3.
- 153 Jennifer Reynolds, Food Secure Can., What's Your Recipe: A Better Food System Final Report 15 (2018) (Can.), https:// foodsecurecanada.org/sites/foodsecurecanada.org/files/ attached_files/final_report_whats_you_recipe_for_a_better_food_system_fsc_march122018.pdf.
- 154 What We Heard: Consultations on a Food Policy for Canada, supra note 151, at 3; The Launch of the First 'Food Policy for Canada – Everyone at the Table', supra note 146.
- 155 Canadian Fed'n of Agric., Finding Common Ground: A Collaborative Discussion on Shaping Canada's National Food Policy 3 (2017) (Can.), https://www.cfa-fca.ca/wp-content/ uploads/2017/07/Finding-Common-Ground-Summary-of-Discussion_Final2.pdf.
- 156 Food Secure Canada, From Patchwork to Policy Coherence: Principles and Priorities of Canada's National Food Policy 6

(2017) (Can.), https://www.pivotandgrow.com/wp-content/ uploads/2017/06/principles-and-priorities-of-canadas-national-food-policy.pdf.

- 157 Council members represent interests from academic, non-profit, public and agricultural sectors to advocate for a fair, inclusive food system that also accounts for commercial and economic well-being. See id. The Council's reports are to be submitted to the Minister of Agriculture and Agri-Food to provide advice on novel challenges while enabling a persistent dialogue among all interested parties. See id.
- 158 It has been suggested that the following departments could form this committee, as they all play a role in national food policy development: Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada, Canadian Food Inspection Agency; Canadian Institutes of Health Research; Canadian Northern Economic Development Agency; Employment and Social Development Canada; Environment and Climate Change Canada; Finance Canada; Fisheries and Oceans Canada; Global Affairs Canada; Health Canada; Indigenous and Northern Affairs Canada; Innovation, Science and Economic Development; Public Health Agency of Canada; Privy Council Office; Statistics Canada; and Transport Canada. Food Policy for Canada: Federal Government, York U., (Can.) https://foodpolicyforcanada.info.yorku.ca/policy-actors/federal-government/.
- 159 From Patchwork to Policy Coherence: Principles and Priorities of Canada's National Food Policy, supra note 155, at 5–7.
- 160 Criteria for selection includes factors such as: experience with resolving food-oriented opportunities and challenges through a systematic approach; success in the application of "strategic, forward looking. . .solutions-based" tactics when confronted with food-based opportunities and challenges; experience with building relations among stakeholders and governments both vertically and horizontally to "achieve positive results across social, health, environmental, and/or economic food-related outcomes,"; and a history of credibility with the agriculture and food industries, the professional health community, indigenous communities, academic institutions and individuals and/or society at large. It is anticipated that terms on the Council will range from two to three years. See The Canadian Food Policy Advisory Council, Gov't. of Can., (Oct. 02, 2019) (Can.), https://www.canada.ca/en/campaign/ food-policy/thecanadianfoodpolicyadvisorycouncil.html; From Patchwork to Policy Coherence: Principles and Priorities of Canada's National Food Policy, supra note 156, at 6.
- 161 Food Policy for Canada, supra note 146, at 5.
- 162 Id. at 8.
- 163 See Two Pieces Added to National Food Policy: Many Parts Still Missing, York U. (Jun. 19, 2019) (Can.), https://foodpolicyforcanada.info.yorku.ca/2019/06/two-pieces-added-to-national-food-policy-many-parts-still-missing/.
- 164 See The Canadian Food Policy Advisory Council, Gov't of Can. (Oct. 8, 2020), https://www.canada.ca/en/campaign/ food-policy/thecanadianfoodpolicyadvisorycouncil.html#:-:text=The%20Canadian%20Food%20Policy%20Advisory%20 Council.%20A%20central,both%20the%20challenges%20 of%20today%20and%20the%20future.
- 165 Id.
- 166 Eliza Kinsey et al., COVID-19 and Food Insecurity: An Uneven Patchwork of Responses, 97 J. Urb. Health 332 (2020), https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC7274516/.
- 167 Health Considerations and Racial and Ethnic Minority Groups, Ctrs. for Disease Control & Prevention (July 24, 2020), https:// www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/community/health-equity/race-ethnicity.html#fn2; COVID Tracking Project, The COVID Racial Data Tracker, The Atlantic (2020), https:// covidtracking.com/race.

- 168 Douglas, supra note 42.
- 169 Econ. Res. Serv., Farms and Farm Households During the COVID-19 Pandemic, U.S. Dep't of Agric., (Oct. 01, 2020), https://www.ers.usda.gov/covid-19/farms-and-farm-households/.
- 170 David Yaffey Bellany & Michael Corkey, Dumped Milk, Smashed Eggs, Plowed Vegetables: Food Waste of the Pandemic, NY Times (Apr. 11, 2020), https://www.nytimes. com/2020/04/11/business/coronavirus-destroying-food.html.
- 171 Org. for Econ. Co-operation & Dev., Food Supply Chains and COVID-19: Impacts and Policy Lessons, (June 02, 2020), http://www.oecd.org/coronavirus/policy-responses/foodsupply-chains-and-covid-19-impacts-and-policy-lessons-71b57aea/.
- 172 A. Elizabeth Sloan, Food Safety Through the Prism of COVID-19, Inst. of Food Tech. (Aug. 01, 2020), https://www. ift.org/news-and-publications/food-technology-magazine/ issues/2020/august/columns/consumer-trends-food-safetythrough-the-prism-of-covid-19.
- 173 Exec. Order No. 13917, 85 Fed. Reg. 26313 (Apr. 01, 2020).
- 174 FDA or USDA Jurisdiction, U.S. Food & Drug Admin. (Feb. 27, 2019), https://www.fdareader.com/blog/fda-or-usda-jurisdiction.
- 175 Press Release, U.S. Dep't of Agric., USDA, FDA Strengthen U.S. Food Supply Chain Protections During COVID-19 Pandemic (May 19, 2020), https://www.usda.gov/media/press-releases/2020/05/19/usda-fda-strengthen-us-food-supplychain-protections-during-covid.
- 176 Press Release, U.S. Dep't of Agric., USDA Announces Coronavirus Food Assistance Program (Apr. 17, 2020), https://www. usda.gov/media/press-releases/2020/04/17/usda-announces-coronavirus-food-assistance-program.
- 177 Id
- 178 Id. Direct support was based on actual losses suffered by agricultural producers resulting from COVID-19's impact on prices and market supply chains, including adjustment and marketing costs as a result of lost demand and short-term oversupply. Id.
- 179 Id.
- 180 Press Release, U.S. Dep't of Agric., Trump Administration Announces Additional \$1B for the Farmers to Families Food Box Program (Aug. 25, 2020), https://www.usda.gov/media/ press-releases/2020/08/25/trump-administration-announces-additional-1-billion-farmers.
- 181 FoodPrint, supra note 34.
- 182 S. Poverty L. Ctr., Injustice On Our Plates, supra note 35.
- 183 U.S. Dept. of Labor, Occupational Safety and Health Administration, supra note 36.
- 184 "When We're Dead and Buried, Our Bones Will Keep Hurting": Workers Rights Under Threat in US Meat and Poultry Plants, Hum. Rights Watch (Sept. 4, 2019), https://www.hrw.org/ report/2019/09/04/when-were-dead-and-buried-our-boneswill-keep-hurting/workers-rights-under-threat#.
- 185 Douglas, supra note 42.
- 186 The White House, The President's Coronavirus Guidelines for America, https://www.whitehouse.gov/wp-content/uploads/2020/03/03.16.20_coronavirus-guidance_8.5x11_315PM. pdf.
- 187 Memorandum, Christopher C. Krebs, Director, Cybersecurity and Infrastructure Security Agency, Memorandum on the Identification of Essential Critical Infrastructure Workers During COVID-19 Response (Mar. 19, 2020) https://www.cisa. gov/sites/default/files/publications/CISA-Guidance-on-Es-

sential-Critical-Infrastructure-Workers-1-20-508c.pdf. The Department of Homeland Security's Cybersecurity and Infrastructure Security Agency (CISA) issued additional guidance identifying "essential critical infrastructure workers," which explicitly included food and agricultural workers. The CISA describes its role as executing the Homeland Security Act "to provide strategic guidance, promote a national unity of effort, and coordinate the overall federal effort to ensure the security and resilience of the Nation's critical infrastructure." Id.

- 188 Michelle A. Waltenburg et al., Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report, Update: COVID-19 Among Workers in Meat and Poultry Processing Facilities—United States, April-May 2020, Ctrs. for Disease Control & Prevention (July 7, 2020), https://www. cdc.gov/mmwr/volumes/69/wr/mm6927e2.htm; Jonathan W. Dyal, MD et al., COVID-19 Among Workers in Meat and Poultry Processing Facilities—19 States, April 2020, Ctrs. for Disease Control & Prevention (May 8, 2020), http://dx.doi. org/10.15585/mmwr.mm6918e3external icon.
- 189 Michelle A. Waltenburg et al., supra note 188.
- 190 Michael Grabell et al., Emails Reveal Chaos as Meatpacking Companies Fought Health Agencies Over COVID-19 Outbreaks in Their Plants, ProPublica (Jun. 12, 2020), https:// www.propublica.org/article/emails-reveal-chaos-as-meatpacking-companies-fought-health-agencies-over-covid-19outbreaks-in-their-plants; Dianne Gallagher and Pamela Kirkland, Meat Processing Facilities are Closing Across the U.S. Due to the Pandemic: Will Consumers Feel the Impact?, CNN (Apr. 27, 2020), https://www.cnn.com/2020/04/26/business/ meat-processing-plants-coronavirus/index.html.
- 191 Exec. Order No. 13,917, 85 Fed. Reg. 26313 (Apr. 28, 2020), https://www.whitehouse.gov/presidential-actions/executive-order-delegating-authority-dpa-respect-food-supply-chain-resources-national-emergency-caused-outbreak-covid-19/ (citing 50 U.S.C. § 4511(b)).
- 192 Id.
- 193 Lewis Kendall, 'Incredibly dangerous job': concerns safety is slipping at US meat plants, The Guardian (Oct. 01, 2020), https://www.theguardian.com/environment/2020/oct/01/ incredibly-dangerous-job-concerns-safety-is-slipping-at-usmeat-plants.
- 194 Melissa A. Bailey & Shontell Powell, CDC and OSHA Issue Guidance for Meat and Poultry Processing Workers and Employers, Nat'l L. Rev. (Apr. 30, 2020), https://www.natlawreview.com/article/cdc-and-osha-issue-guidance-meat-andpoultry-processing-workers-and-employers.
- 195 See e.g., Interim Guidance from CDC and the Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA), Ctrs. For Disease Control & Prevention, (July 9, 2020), https://www.cdc.gov/ coronavirus/2019-ncov/community/organizations/meat-poultry-processing-workers-employers.html.
- 196 Bailey & Powell, supra note 194.
- 197 Proclamation No. 9994, 85 Fed. Reg. 15337 (Mar. 18, 2020), https://www.whitehouse.gov/presidential-actions/proclamation-declaring-national-emergency-concerning-novel-coronavirus-disease-covid-19-outbreak/#:~:text=and%20consistent%20with%20section%201135,%2C%20beginning%20 March%201%2C%202020.
- 198 Bailey & Powell, supra note 194.
- 199 Agriculture Workers and Employers: Interim Guidance from CDC and the US Department of Labor, Ctrs. for Disease Control & Prevention (June 11, 2020), https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/community/guidance-agricultural-workers. html.
- 200 Press Release, Stephen M. Hahn M.D., Commissioner of Food and Drugs, U.S. Food & Drug Admin., Coronavirus (COVID-19) Update: Joint Statement from USDA and FDA on Food Export

Restrictions Pertaining to COVID-19 (June 24, 2020) ("There is no evidence that people can contract COVID-19 from food or from food packaging.").

- 201 Cong. Res. Serv., Food Safety and COVID-19, IN11453 (July 9, 2020).
- 202 U.S. Food & Drug Admin., Best Practices for Re-Opening Retail Food Establishments During the COVID-19 Pandemic – Food Safety Checklist (2020), https://www.fda.gov/media/137867/download.
- 203 Common Questions about Food Safety and COVID-19, U.S. Dep't. of Agric. Food Safety Inspection Serv. (Mar. 18 2020), https://www.fsis.usda.gov/wps/portal/fsis/newsroom/Common-Questions-about-Food-Safety-and-COVID-19.
- 204 Protecting Seafood Processing Workers from COVID-19: Interim Guidance from CDC and the Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA). Developed in consultation with the Food and Drug Administration (FDA), U.S. Ctrs. for Disease Control & Prevention (June 24, 2020), https://www. cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/community/guidance-seafood-processing.html.
- 205 Considerations for Outdoor Farmers Markets, U.S. Ctrs. for Disease Control & Prevention (Sept. 17, 2020), https://www. cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/community/outdoor-farmers-markets.html.
- 206 Considerations for Food Pantries and Food Distribution Sites, U.S. Ctrs. for Disease Control & Prevention (Sept. 15, 2020), https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/community/organizations/food-pantries.html.
- 207 Interim Enforcement Response Plan, U.S. Occupational Safety and Health Admin. (Apr. 13, 2020), https://www. osha.gov/memos/2020-04-13/interim-enforcement-response-plan-coronavirus-disease-2019-covid-19.
- 208 Id.
- 209 OSHA Meatpacking Guidelines Aren't Enforceable: OSHA is Hiding, CBS News (May 21, 2020), https://www.cbsnews.com/ news/osha-meatpacking-guidelines-arent-enforceable-osha-is-hiding/.
- 210 Shawn Fremstad et al., Meatpacking Workers are a Diverse Group Who Need Better Protections, Ctr for Econ. Progress (Apr. 29, 2020), https://cepr.net/meatpacking-workers-area-diverse-group-who-need-better-protections/ ("Immigrants are particularly overrepresented in frontline meatpacking occupations.").
- 211 News Release, U.S. Dep't. of Labor, U.S. Department of Labor Cites Smithfield Packaged Meats Corp. For Failing to Protect Employees from Coronavirus (Sept. 10, 2020), https://www. dol.gov/newsroom/releases/osha/osha20200910
- 212 News Release, U.S. Dep't. of Labor, U.S. Department of Labor Cites JBS Foods Inc. For Failing To Protect Employees From Exposure To The Coronavirus (Sept. 11, 2020), https://www. dol.gov/newsroom/releases/osha/osha20200911-1
- 213 Natalia V. Navarro, Greeley JBS Meatpacking Plant Reopens Without Testing All Employees For Coronavirus, CPR News (Apr. 24, 2020), https://www.cpr.org/2020/04/24/greeley-jbs-meatpacking-plant-reopens-without-testing-all-employees-for-coronavirus/; AGDAILY Reporters, Smithfield Foods fined for failing to protect employees from COVID-19, AGDAILY (Sept. 04, 2020), https://www.agdaily.com/news/ smithfield-foods-employees-covid-19/.
- 214 Common Questions about Food Safety and COVID-19, supra note 203; Statement to Industry, Dr. Mindy Brashears, USDA Deputy Under Sec. for Food Safety & Greg Iback, USDA Under Sec. for Marketing and Reg. Programs, USDA's Office of Food Safety and Marketing and Regulatory Programs Statement to Industry (March 16, 2020), https://www.aphis.

usda.gov/aphis/newsroom/stakeholder-info/SA_By_Date/SA-2020/SA-03/coronavirus-statement.

- 215 Mike Dorning, Thirty Workers, Four USDA Inspectors Dead Amid Meat Plant Coronavirus Outbreaks, Time (May 14, 2020), https://time.com/5836973/usda-inspector-meat-workers-dead-coronavirus/.
- 216 Cong. Res. Serv., supra note 201.
- 217 Meatpacking, U.S. Dep't of Labor, https://www.osha.gov/ meatpacking.
- 218 U.S. Occupational Health and Safety Admin., Memorandum of Understanding between The U.S. Dep't of Labor, Occupational Health and Safety Admin., & U.S. Dep't of Agric., Food Safety and Inspection Serv. (Feb. 4, 1994), https://www.osha. gov/laws-regs/mou/1994-02-04#:~:text=The%20purpose%20 of%20this%20Memorandum,Food%20Safety%20and%20Inspection%20Service%20(.
- 219 U.S. Gov't Accountability Office, GOA-18-12, Workplace Safety and Health: Better Outreach, Collaboration, and Information Needed to Help Protect Workers at mean and Poultry Plants (2017), https://www.gao.gov/assets/690/688294.pdf.
- 220 Courtney A Parks et al., Food System Workers are the Unexpected but Under protected COVID Heroes, 150 J. of Nutrition 2006 (2020), https://academic.oup.com/jn/article/150/8/2006/5862589.
- 221 U.S. Dep't of Agric., Definitions of Food Security, https://www. ers.usda.gov/topics/food-nutrition-assistance/food-securityin-the-us/definitions-of-food-security.aspx#:-:text=Food%20 insecurity%E2%80%94the%20condition%20assessed,may%20 result%20from%20food%20insecurity.
- 222 Feeding America, Map the Meal Gap 2020 Executive Summary 2–3 (2020), https://www.feedingamerica.org/sites/default/ files/2020-06/Map%20the%20Meal%20Gap%202020%20 Executive%20Summary%20Module.pdf.
- 223 U.S. Dep't of Agric., Econ. Res. Serv., supra note 21.
- 224 Definitions of Food Security, supra note 221; Food Security and Nutrition Assistance, U.S. Dep't of Agric. Econ. Res. Serv. (Sep. 12, 2009), https://www.ers.usda.gov/data-products/ ag-and-food-statistics-charting-the-essentials/food-security-and-nutrition-assistance/?topicId=14875.
- 225 Feeding America, supra note 222, at 2–3 (Apr. 22, 2020).
- 226 Food Res. & Action Ctr, supra note 23.
- 227 Id.
- 228 See generally, Food Assistance Programs, U.S. Dep't of Agric., https://www.nutrition.gov/topics/food-assistance-programs.
- 229 Joy Moses, Basic needs Assistance for the Poor Advances Economic Recovery and Employment Goals, Ctr. for American Progress (Feb. 03, 2020).
- 230 See generally, The Emergency Food Assistance Program, U.S. Dep't of Agric., https://www.fns.usda.gov/tefap/emergency-food-assistance-program.
- 231 Nicholas Kulish, Never Seen Anything Like It: Cars Line Up for Miles at Food Banks, NY Times (April 8, 2020), https:// www.nytimes.com/2020/04/08/business/economy/coronavirus-food-banks.html.
- 232 Pub. L. No. 116-127 (2020).
- 233 Pub. L. No. 116-136 (2020).
- 234 Dottie Rosenbaum et al., USDA, States Must Act Swiftly to Deliver Food Assistance Allowed by Families First Act, Ctr. on Budget and Pol'y Priorities (Apr. 7, 2020), https://www.cbpp. org/research/food-assistance/usda-states-must-act-swiftlyto-deliver-food-assistance-allowed-by-families.
- 235 Pub. L. No. 116-136 (2020); What's in the CARES Act for

Food and Agriculture, American Farm Bureau, (Mar. 26, 2020), https://www.fb.org/market-intel/whats-in-the-caresact-for-food-and-agriculture#:-:text=Direct%20food-%20 and%20agriculture-related%20provisions%20in%20the%20 CARES,the%20total%20agricultural%20program%20funding%20in%20the%20bill.

- 236 Letter from 1380 national, state, and local organizations, to Sonny Perdue, U.S. Dep't of Agric., Brandon Lipps, Food & Nutrition Serv., Pamilyn Miller, Food & Nutrition Serv. (Sept. 21, 2020), https://frac.org/wp-content/uploads/Sign-on-Letter-Final_-Extend-Waivers-through-June-30-2021.pdf.
- 237 Press Release, U.S. Dep't. of Agric., USDA Extends Free Meals for Kids Through December 31, 2020 (Aug. 31, 2020), https:// www.usda.gov/media/press-releases/2020/08/31/usda-extends-free-meals-kids-through-december-31-2020
- 238 Press Release, U.S. Dep't. of Agric., Food and Nutrition Serv., Trump Administration Extends Free Meals for Kids for Entire School Year (Oct. 09, 2020), https://www.fns.usda.gov/newsitem/usda-040120.
- 239 Kelsey Snell, What's Inside The Senate's \$2 Trillion Coronavirus Aid Package, NPR (Mar. 26, 2020), https://www.npr. org/2020/03/26/821457551/whats-inside-the-senate-s-2-trillion-coronavirus-aid-package
- 240 Dottie Rosenbaum, Latest Coronavirus Response Package Doesn't Boost SNAP — the Next One Should, Ctr. on Budget and Pol'y Priorities (Mar. 27, 2020), https://www.cbpp.org/ blog/latest-coronavirus-response-package-doesnt-boostsnap-the-next-one-should.
- 241 Marianne Bitler and Hilary Hoynes, The More Things Change, The More They Stay the Same? The Safety Net and Poverty in the Great Recession, Nat'l Bureau of Econ. Res. 21 (2013). https://www.nber.org/papers/w19449.pdf.
- 242 Jon Pender & Young Jo, SNAP Redemptions Contributed to Employment During the Great Recession, U.S. Dep't. of Agric., Food and Nutrition Serv. (May 28, 2019), https://www.ers. usda.gov/amber-waves/2019/may/snap-redemptions-contributed-to-employment-during-the-great-recession/.
- 243 Memorandum from the U.S. Dep't of Agric., Food & Nutrition Serv., to Regional Directors, Special Nutrition Programs (June 12, 2020), https://www.fns.usda.gov/tefap/additional-information-fy-2020-funding-sources.
- 244 Carrie Calvert, The Emergency Food Assistance Program Is the Lifeline Food Banks Need Amid COVID-19, Feeding America (May 7, 2020), https://www.feedingamericaaction.org/ the-emergency-food-assistance-program-is-the-lifeline-foodbanks-need-amid-covid-19/.
- 245 Press Release, U.S. Dep't of Agric., USDA Announces Coronavirus Food Assistance Program (Apr. 17, 2020), https://www. usda.gov/media/press-releases/2020/04/17/usda-announces-coronavirus-food-assistance-program.
- 246 USDA Farmers to Families Food Box, U.S. Dep't of Agric., Agric. Marketing Serv. (Oct. 06, 2020), https://www.ams.usda. gov/selling-food-to-usda/farmers-to-families-food-box.
- 247 Id.
- 248 See e.g.U.S. Dep't of Agric., Request for Proposal ER Acquisition 6 (2020), https://www.ams.usda.gov/ selling-food-tousda/farmers-to-families-food-box.
- 249 Laura Reiley, Trump's signature effort to direct farm surplus to needy families abruptly withdraws large contract amid criticism of rollout, Wash. Post (May 22, 2020), https://linkgale-com.cowles-proxy.drake.edu/apps/doc/A624677286/ ITOF?u=drakeu_main&sid=ITOF&xid=8daf0158.

250 Id.

251 USDA food box program falls short of supporting small farms,

Nat'l Sustainable Agric. Coalition (June 18, 2020), https://sustainableagriculture.net/blog/food-box-program-and-smallfarms/.

- 252 Id.
- 253 The USDA wished to have 40 million boxes distributed by June 30th, 2020. Between May 8, 2020 and June 4, 2020, only 5 million boxes had been delivered. Press Release, U.S. Dep't of Agric., USDA Farmers to Families Food Box Program Reaches 5 Million Boxes Distributed (June 4, 2020), https:// www.usda.gov/media/press-releases/2020/06/04/usdafarmers-families-food-box-program-reaches-5-million-boxes.
- 254 Id.
- 255 Press Release, U.S. Dep't of Agric., Farmers to Families Food Box Program Surpasses 100 Million Boxes Delivered (Sept. 29, 2020), https://www.usda.gov/media/press-releases/2020/09/29/farmers-families-food-box-program-surpasses-100-million-boxes.
- 256 Nat'l Sustainable Agric. Coalition, supra note 251.
- 257 Conor Friedersdorf, Food Banks Can't Go on Like This, Atlantic (May 6, 2020), https://www.theatlantic.com/ideas/ archive/2020/05/food-banks-cant-go-like/611206/.
- 258 Renée Johnson, Cong. Research Serv., R46348, COVID-19: Supply Chain Disruptions in the U.S. Fruit and Vegetable Industry: In Brief (2020), https://crsreports.congress.gov/ product/pdf/R/R46348.
- 259 Id.
- 260 Sarah Gibbins, These 5 foods show how coronavirus has disrupted supply chains, Nat'l Geographic (May 19, 2020), https://www.nationalgeographic. com/science/2020/05/ covid-19-disrupts-complex-food-chains-beef-milk-eggs-produce/.
- 261 Laura Reily, Full Fields, Empty Fridges, Wash. Post (Apr. 23, 2020), https://www.washingtonpost.com/ business/2020/04/23 /fixing-food-dumping-foodbanks/?arc404=true.
- 262 Yaffe-Bellany & Corkery, supra note 170.
- 263 Jimmy Vielkind, New York Dairy Farmers Fell the Squeeze From Coronavirus as Milk Sales Dry Up, Wallstreet J (Apr. 29, 2020), https://www.wsj.com/articles/new-york-dairy-farmers-feel-the-squeeze-from-coronavirus-as-milk-sales-dryup-11588183989.
- 264 Yaffe-Bellany & Corkery, supra note 170.
- 265 Helena Bottemiller Evich, USDA Let Millions of Pound of Food Rot While Food Bank Demand Soared, Politico (Apr. 26, 2020), https://www.politico.com/news/2020/04/26/ food-banks-coronavirus-agriculture-usda-207215.
- 266 Gibbins, supra note 260.
- 267 See e.g., Sierra Garcia & Emily Pontecorvo, The coronavirus broke the food supply chain. Here's how to fix it., Grist (May 14, 2020), https://grist.org/food/coronavirus-food-grocerystore-empty-farm-food-waste-solution/.
- 268 Yaffe-Bellany & Corkery, supra note 170.
- 269 Johnson, supra note 258.
- 270 Id.
- 271 Laura Reily, The Industry Says We Have Enough Food. Here's Why some Store Shelves Are Empty Anyway, Wash. Post (Apr. 14, 2020), https://www.washingtonpost.com/business/2020/04/14/grocery-stores-empty-shelves-shortage/.
- 272 Id.
- 273 Susan Mayne, FDA Provides Flexibility to the Food Industry to Support Food Supply Chain and Meet Consumer Demand During COVID-19, U.S. Food & Drug Admin. (Apr. 21, 2020),

https://www.fda.gov/news-events/fda-voices/fda-providesflexibility-food-industry-support-food-supply-chain-andmeet-consumer-demand-during.

- 274 Stephen M. Hahn and Frank Yiannas, Pandemic Challenges Highlight the Importance of the New Era of Smarter Food Safety, U.S. Food & Drug Admin (June 02, 2020), https:// www.fda.gov/news-events/fda-voices/pandemic-challenges-highlight-importance-new-era-smarter-food-safety.
- 275 Nicole Ford, Coronavirus In Pennsylvania: New FDA Policy Being Implemented To Reduce Food Waste, CBSN Pittsburgh (Apr. 29, 2020), https://pittsburgh.cbslocal. com/2020/04/29/fda-policy-being-implemented-to-reduce-food-waste-in-pennsylvania/.

276 Id.

- 277 Brian Lipinski, Craig Hanson, James Lomax, Lisa Kitinoja, Richard Waite & Tim Searchinger, World Res. Inst. & United Nations Env't Programme, Reducing Food Loss and Waste (2013), https://pdf.wri.org/reducing_food_loss_and_waste. pdf.
- 278 Laura Reily, Food banks are seeing volunteers disappear and supplies evaporate as coronavirus fears mount, Wash. Post (Mar. 16, 2020), https://www.washingtonpost.com/business/2020/03/16/food-banks-are-seeing-volunteers-disappear-food-supply-evaporate-coronavirus-fears-mount/.
- 279 Yelena Dzhanova, Food banks are closing and losing their workforce because of the coronavirus, CNBC (Apr. 28, 2020), https://www.cnbc.com/2020/04/28/coronavirus-food-banksare-closing-and-losing-their-workforce.html.
- 280 Proclamation No. 9993, 85 Fed. Reg. 15045 (Mar. 6, 2020).
- 281 See Q&A:COVID-19 pandemic impact on food and agriculture, Food & Agric. Org. of the United Nations, http://www. fao.org/2019-ncov/q-and-a/impact-on-food-and-agriculture/ en/.
- 282 Food and Agric. Org. of the United Nations, Responding to the impact of the COVID-19 Outbreak on Food Value Chains Through Efficient Logistics 2 (2020), http://www.fao.org/3/ ca8466en/CA8466EN.pdf.
- 283 Helena Bottemiller Evich, USDA let millions of pounds of food rot while food-bank demand soared, Politico (Apr. 26, 2020), https://www.politico.com/news/2020/04/26/ food-banks-coronavirus-agriculture-usda-207215.
- 284 For example, the Florida Department of Agriculture and Consumer Services estimated that seasonal crop growers, such as tomatoes, cabbage, and blueberries, in Florida suffered \$522 million in losses through mid-April 2020 due to COVID-19. Nicole Fried, Fla. Dep't of Agric. & Consumer Servs., Florida Seasonal Crop COVID-19 Impact Assessment, 2–5 (2020), https://www.dropbox.com/s/hou5vjdpo1f73ga/Florida%20 Seasonal%20 Crop%20COVID-19%20Impact%20Assessment. pdf?dl=0; See also Bottemiller Evich, supra note 283.
- 285 See generally Megan Stubbs, Cong. Res. Serv., RS21212, Agricultural Disaster Assistance (2020), https://fas.org/sgp/crs/ misc/RS21212.pdf.
- 286 Section 647(a) of the Small Business Administration Act prohibits the SBA from duplicating the work of any other federal agency, so, because farmers are eligible for USDA emergency assistance, they cannot receive EIDLs. Small Business Administration Act § 647(a), 15 U.S.C. §§ 631-657u (2018).
- 287 Stubbs, supra note 285.
- 288 Id. at 4.
- 289 Id. Thus, the deadline for many farmers was well before the coronavirus outbreak began in the United States. For example, the deadline to purchase NAP coverage for apples and grapes grown in Nebraska for the 2020 season was Novem-

ber 20, 2019. Press Release, U.S. Dep't of Agric., Farm Serv. Agency Nebraska, Farm Service Agency Reminds Producers of Fall Application Deadlines for Noninsured Crop Disaster Assistance Program (NAP) (Sept. 17, 2019), https://www.fsa. usda.gov/state-offices/ Nebraska/news-releases/2019/stnr_ ne_20190917_rel_27.

- 290 Megan Stubbs, supra note 285, at 9.
- 291 Id. at 1.
- 292 Bruce Lindsay, Cong. Res. Serv., R41309, The SBA Disaster Loan Program: Overview and Possible issues for Congress 3 (2015), https://crsreports.congress.gov/product/pdf/R/ R41309.
- 293 Section 647(a) of the Small Business Administration Act prohibits the SBA from duplicating the work of any other federal agency. Small Business Administration Act § 647(a), 15 U.S.C. §§ 631-657u. (2018).
- 294 Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act, Pub. L. No. 116-136 §1110 (2020).
- 295 Section 1110(a)(2) of the CARES Act provided that entities eligible for emergency EIDLs included (1) businesses with not more than 500 employees, (2) independent contractors, individuals who operate businesses without employees, or individuals who operate under a sole proprietorship, (3) cooperatives with not more than 500 employees, (4) an employee stock ownership plan with not more than 500 employees, and (5) a tribal small business concern with not more than 500 employees. Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act, Pub. L. No. 116-136 §1110 (2020). However, since most agricultural enterprises are specifically excluded by section 647(a) of the Small Business Administration Act, it was unclear whether agricultural entities were considered "businesses" under section 1110(a)(2) of the CARES Act. Small Business Administration Act § 647(a), 15 U.S.C. §§ 631-657u (2018).
- 296 Press Release, Marco Rubio, Senator, U.S. Senate, Rubio, Velazquez, Chabot Clarify Intent of Agriculture Business Eligibility for EIDL in CARES Act (Apr. 3, 2020), https:// www.rubio.senate.gov/public/index.cfm/press-releases?ID=DA4A3578-99CA-4969-8E53-D0484493F813.
- 297 Press Release, U.S. Small Business Administration, SBA to Make Economic Injury Disaster Loans Available to U.S. Agricultural Business Impacted by COVID-19 Pandemic (May 4, 2020), https://www.sba.gov/about-sba/sba-newsroom/ press-releases-media-advisories/sba-make-economic-injury-disaster-loans-available-us-agricultural-businesses-impacted-covid-19.
- 298 7 C.F.R. § 1409.1 (2020).
- 299 Nathan Rosenberg & Bryce Stucki, USDA Gave Almost 100 Percent of Trump's Trade War Bailout To White Farmers, Farm Bill L. Enter. (July 24, 2019), http://www.farmbilllaw. org/2019/07/24/usda-gave-almost-100-percent-of-trumpstrade-war-bailout-to-white-farmers/.
- 300 Total Market Facilitation Program, Envtl. Working Grp. (2020), https://farm.ewg.org/progdetail.php?fips=00000 &progcode=total_mfp&page=conc®ionname=theUnitedStates.
- 301 Id.
- 302 See, e.g., Food, Agriculture, Conservation, and Trade Act of 1990, 7 U.S.C.A. § 2279 (2017).
- 303 USDA Food Box Program Falls Short of Supporting Small Farms, Nat'l Sustainable Agric. Coal. (June 18, 2020), https:// sustainableagriculture.net/blog/food-box-program-andsmall-farms/.
- 304 USDA Solicitation/Contract/Order for Commercial Items 14, https://www.ams.usda.gov/sites/default/files/media/RFP_ ERAcquisition.pdf

- 305 Farm Aid, Understanding the Economic Crisis Family Farms are Facing (2020), https://www.farmaid.org/blog/fact-sheet/ understanding-economic-crisis-family-farms-are-facing/#1.
- 306 Nat'l Farmers Union, Consolidation (2019), https://1yd7z-7koz052nb8r33cfxyw5-wpengine.netdna-ssl.com/wp-content/uploads/2019/03/Consolidation-Final.pdf.
- 307 Anita Regmi, Cong. Research Serv., R45929, China's Retaliatory Tariffs on U.S. Agriculture: In Brief 6-8 (2019), https:// crsreports.congress.gov/product/pdf/R/R45929.
- 308 Sandrine Dury, Pauline Bendjebbar, Etienne Hainzelin, Thierry Giordano & Nicolas Bricas, Food & Agric. Org. of the United Nations, Food Systems At Risk: New Trends and Challenges 35–71 (2019), http: //www.fao.org/3/ca5724en/ca5724en.pdf.
- 309 White House, Office of Nat'l AIDS Policy, National HIV/AIDS Strategy for the United States (2010), https://obamawhitehouse.archives.gov/sites/default/files/uploads/NHAS.pdf.
- 310 Exec. Order No. 13653, 3 C.F.R. § 13,653 (2013).
- 311 Exec. Order No. 13676, 79 Fed. Reg. 56,931 (Sept. 23, 2014).
- 312 See generally Maggie Gosselin, Beyond the USDA: How Other Government Agencies Can Support a Healthier, More Sustainable Food System, Inst. for Agric. & Trade Pol'y (2010); U.S. Gov't Accountability Office, GAO-17-74, Food Safety: A National Strategy Is Needed to Address Fragmentation in Federal Oversight (2017), https://www.gao.gov/assets/690/682095. pdf.
- 313 Intelligence Authorization Act for Fiscal Year 2003, P.L. 107-306 §§ 602-603, 116 Stat. 2383 (2002)
- 314 National Health Security Strategy, 42 U.S.C. § 300hh-1 (2013).
- 315 About the National Quality Strategy, Agency for Healthcare Res. & Quality & U.S. Dep't Health & Hum. Servs. (Mar. 2017), https://www.ahrq.gov/workingforquality/about/index.html.
- 316 Bill de Blasio, N.Y.C. & Kathryn Garcia, N.Y.C. Dep't of Sanitation, Feeding New York: The Plan for Keeping Our City Fed During the COVID-19 Public Health Crisis 7-10 (2020), https:// home3.nyc.gov/ assets/home/downloads/pdf/reports/2020/ Feeding-New-York.pdf.

- 317 Id. at 9–10.
- 318 Id. at 10-13.
- 319 Id. at 19.
- 320 Id. at 16.
- 321 Id. at 7–10.
- 322 Id. at 10.
- 323 Id. at 17-20.
- 324 MassGovernor, COVID-19 Update: Boosting Community Health Center Testing Capacity, YouTube (Apr. 22, 2020) https:// www.youtube.com/watch?tim e_continue=1669&v=4ZPLxqXzDnE& feature= emb_logo.
- 325 Press Release, Office of Governor Charlie Baker and Lieutenant Governor Karyn Polito et al., Baker-Polito Administration Invests \$56 Million to Combat Food Insecurity in Massachusetts (May 17, 2020), https://www.mass.gov/news/ baker-polito-administration-invests-56-million-to-combat-food-insecurity-in-massachusetts.
- 326 Id.
- 327 Press Release, Office of Governor Charlie Baker and Lieutenant Governor Karyn Polito et al., Baker-Polito Administration Announces Availability of \$41 Million in Support for Food Security Programs, (June 11, 2020), https://www.mass. gov/news/baker-polito-administration-announces-availability-of-41-million-in-support-for-food-security.
- 328 Jeanne Marie Zokovitch Paben, Green Power & Environmental Justice-Does Green Discriminate?, 46 Tex. Tech L. Rev. 1067, 1098–99 (2014).
- 329 42 U.S.C. § 4321.
- 330 See Serge Taylor, Making Bureaucracies Think: The Environmental Impact Statement Strategy of Administrative Reform 251 (1984).